
 
 

1 
 

      
 

REGULAR MEETING of the Board of Directors of the 
Peninsula Clean Energy Authority (PCEA) 

Thursday, July 26, 2018 
6:30 pm 

 
Peninsula Clean Energy, 2075 Woodside Road, 

Redwood City, CA 94061 
 
 
Meetings are accessible to people with disabilities. Individuals who need special assistance or a 
disability-related modification or accommodation (including auxiliary aids or services) to participate 
in this meeting, or who have a disability and wish to request an alternative format for the agenda, 
meeting notice, agenda packet or other writings that may be distributed at the meeting, should 
contact Anne Bartoletti, Board Clerk, at least 2 working days before the meeting at 
abartoletti@peninsulacleanenergy.com. Notification in advance of the meeting will enable the PCEA 
to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting and the materials related 
to it. Attendees to this meeting are reminded that other attendees may be sensitive to various 
chemical based products. 

  
If you wish to speak to the Board, please fill out a speaker’s slip located on the tables as you enter 
the Board meeting room. If you have anything that you wish to be distributed to the Board and 
included in the official record, please hand it to a member of PCEA staff who will distribute the 
information to the Board members and other staff. 
 
CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL 

  
PUBLIC COMMENT 
This item is reserved for persons wishing to address the Board on any PCEA-related matters that 
are as follows: 1) Not otherwise on this meeting agenda; 2) Listed on the Consent Agenda and/or 
Closed Session Agenda; 3) Chief Executive Officer’s or Staff Report on the Regular Agenda; or 4) 
Board Members’ Reports on the Regular Agenda. Public comments on matters not listed above 
shall be heard at the time the matter is called.  
  
As with all public comment, members of the public who wish to address the Board are requested to 
complete a speaker’s slip and provide it to PCEA staff. Speakers are customarily limited to two 
minutes, but an extension can be provided to you at the discretion of the Board Chair. 
 
ACTION TO SET AGENDA and TO APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS 
This item is to set the final consent and regular agenda, and for the approval of the items listed on 
the consent agenda. All items on the consent agenda are approved by one action.  
 
 



 
 

2 
 

REGULAR AGENDA 

1. Chair Report (Discussion) 

2. CEO Report (Discussion) 

3. Citizens Advisory Committee Report (Discussion) 
 

4. Marketing and Outreach Report (Discussion) 
 

5. Regulatory and Legislative Report (Discussion) 
 

6. Local Programs Report (Discussion) 
 

7. Approve Redwood City Resilience Project (Action) 
 

8. Approve CPUC IRP (Action) 
 

9. Approval of Employment Contract Amendment and Compensation Adjustment for Chief 
Executive Officer (Action) 
 

10. Board Members’ Reports (Discussion) 
 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 

11. Approval of the Minutes for the June 28, 2018 Meeting (Action) 
 

 
Public records that relate to any item on the open session agenda for a regular board meeting are 
available for public inspection.  Those records that are distributed less than 72 hours prior to the 
meeting are available for public inspection at the same time they are distributed to all members, or 
a majority of the members of the Board.  The Board has designated the Peninsula Clean Energy 
office, located at 2075 Woodside Road, Redwood City, CA 94061, for the purpose of making 
those public records available for inspection.  The documents are also available on the PCEA’s 
Internet Web site.  The website is located at: http://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com. 

 

 



Item No. 2 

 

 

 
 

PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY 
  Board Correspondence 

 

 

DATE: July 19, 2018 
BOARD MEETING DATE:     July 26, 2018 

SPECIAL NOTICE/HEARING: None 
VOTE REQUIRED: None 

 
 
TO:  Honorable Peninsula Clean Energy Authority (PCE) Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Jan Pepper, Chief Executive Officer 
 
SUBJECT: CEO Report 
 
 
REPORT: 
 
PCE Staffing Update 
 
CFO Status 
The Position Description for the Chief Financial Officer has been finalized and is being widely 
circulated by Carlson Beck, the search firm conducting the recruiting for this position, as well as 
by PCE staff.  The position description has also been distributed to all PCE board members and 
city managers.  Eric Hall, from FLG Partners, has stepped in as the Interim CFO in place of Tina 
Caratan, effective immediately.  
 
County Staff Attorneys 
PCE also welcomes two new attorneys from the County.  Jennifer Stalzer Kraske will be 
handling much of the day-to-day work for PCE, including vendor contracts, as well as board and 
committee meetings. Matthew Sanders will be working with PCE on regulatory affairs issues. 
 
Internal PCE Staff 
PCE is in the process of extending an offer to a new member of the Energy Programs Team.  
We are also recruiting for a Community Outreach Associate/Coordinator. 
 
 
PCE Annual Audit 
 
PCE staff (Jay Modi, Jan Pepper, and Interim CFO Tina Caratan) met with Brett Bradford and 
Matthew Brewer from Pissenti and Brinker to kick off the annual financial audit.  The auditors 
also had conversations with PCE Board Chair Jeff Aalfs and PCE Audit & Finance Chair Donna 
Colson.  
 



Item No. 2 

 

 

 

-2- 

 

 
 
PCE Board Retreat 
 
The draft agenda for the PCE board retreat was reviewed at the July Executive Committee.  The 
current draft based on the additional input is attached.  Shawn Marshall has agreed to facilitate 
the retreat which will be held on Saturday, September 29, at the PCE offices. 
 
 
Meetings with PCE’s Assembly Members and Senators 
 
During the end of July and early August, PCE staff and available board members will be 
meeting with all of the Assembly Members and Senators that represent San Mateo County, 
including Senators Hill and Wiener, and Assembly Members Berman, Mullin, and Ting.  These 
meetings will be to review and communicate PCE’s positions on key proposed legislation 
affecting CCAs during this legislative session.   
 
 
Upcoming Events 
 
The CalCCA Annual Summit will be held on Wednesday afternoon and all day Thursday, 
September 5-6, at Asilomar, near Monterey.  Board members wishing to attend should contact 
Anne Bartoletti now for registration and accommodations.   
 
 
  
 



 

 

Preliminary Agenda for PCE Strategic Retreat 
Saturday, September 29, 2018 
Location:  Peninsula Clean Energy 
                 2075 Woodside Road 
                 Redwood City, CA  94061 
 
July 26, 2018 DRAFT  
 
7:30 – 8:00  Breakfast 
 
8:00 – 8:15  Call to Order / Roll Call 
   Public Comment 
   Action to Set Agenda and Approve Consent Agenda Items 
 
8:15 – 9:00  Review of PCE’s Strategic Goals  

• Status of goals 

• Proposed updates or modifications 
 
9:00 – 9:45  PCE Marketing Strategy 

• Review of PCE’s Product Mix (ECOplus and ECO100) 

• Evolution of ECOplus into ECO100 in 2025 

• PCE Branding 
o Customer Awareness of PCE 
o Encouraging Opt-Up to ECO100?  

 
9:45 – 10:00  Break 

 
10:00 – 11:00 Local Energy Programs  

• Local Energy Programs Roadmap 

• Community Pilots Launch 
o Recommended Projects 

 
11:00 – 12:30 Possible Strategies to Employ PCE’s Reserves  

• Operating / Working Capital Reserves 

• Economic Development Incentives 

• PCE-owned Local Generation 

• Customer Rebates 

• Local Programs 
 
12:30 – 12:45 PCE Organization and Staffing Plan 
 
12:45 – 1:00  Conclusions and Wrap-Up 



Item No. 4 

 

 

 

 
 

PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY 
  Board Correspondence 

 

 
DATE: July 16, 2018 

BOARD MEETING DATE:     July 26, 2018 

SPECIAL NOTICE/HEARING: None 
VOTE REQUIRED: None 

 
  

TO: 
 

Honorable Peninsula Clean Energy Authority (PCE) Board of Directors 

FROM: 
 

Kirsten Andrews-Schwind, Communications and Outreach Manager 

SUBJECT: Update on PCE’s Marketing and Outreach Activities 
 
 

 
BACKGROUND: 
The marketing team has been busy doing outreach, managing our online presence, 
responding to customer requests, and preparing future campaigns. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Outreach and Workshops 
 
Peninsula Clean Energy continues to maintain an active outreach presence in the 
community at the following recent and upcoming events: 
 
25-Jun Solar Workshop with PG&E in Pacifica 
30-Jun San Mateo Coyote Point Kite Festival 

10-Jul PCE Easy Charge Program Workshop 

11-Jul Solar Net Energy Metering (NEM) Workshop  

12-Jul EPA Today/Talking with Henrietta Local Cable Access Show 
13-Jul Chinese talk show (on Sound of Hope) 

19-Jul Belmont Chamber Annual Meeting 

28-Jul Chinese PCE workshop at San Mateo Library 

1-Aug Solar Net Energy Metering (NEM) Workshop  



 

-2- 

 

7-Aug National Night Out in SSF  

9-Aug Table at Genentech Corporate Ride & Drive 

9-Aug Multichamber Business Expo (SSF, San Bruno, Pacifica, Brisbane, 
Millbrae) 

11-Aug Facebook Festival: SummerJam 

18-Aug Burlingame on the Avenue 

19-Aug Burlingame on the Avenue 

26-Sep Sunshares Workshop in Millbrae 

29-Sep Pacifica Fog Fest, with Pacifica Resource Center 

30-Sep Pacifica Fog Fest, with Pacifica Resource Center 

 
Several of these opportunities the are result of collaboration with our outreach grantee 
local nonprofits. This includes the Chinese radio talk show appearance and Chinese 
workshop at the San Mateo Library (Sound of Hope Radio), the appearance on the 
Talking with Henrietta local cable access show in East Palo Alto and Menlo Park 
(Acterra), and upcoming tabling at the Pacifica Fog Fest (Pacifica Resource Center).  
 
We are happy to report that our three NEM solar customer workshops to date were filled 
to capacity and very successful. In addition, PCE organized a successful workshop for 
apartment owners on installing EV charging infrastructure (Easy Charge Apartments). 
 
 
New Go Electric Local Program Branding 
 
Peninsula Clean Energy is launching a sub-brand for all local program marketing, “Go 
Electric”. This versatile sub-brand is applicable to all PCE programs focused on 
electrification, i.e. switching from fossil fuels to electricity. The “Go Electric” sub-brand 
and logo will be used alongside the “Peninsula Clean Energy” logo to increase 
recognition of our main brand in addition to promoting “Go Electric”. 
 

 
 
 
Community Pilot Program Launch 
 
Peninsula Clean Energy launched its call for proposals for its Community Pilot Program 
on June 21, 2018, with a press release and heavy promotion through social media, with 
the following results through July 16, 2018: 
 

Twitter  

• Impressions – 89,088 (54,280 organic and 34,808 promoted) 

• Engagements – 105 



 

-3- 

 

 
LinkedIn 

• Impressions – 5,152 

• Clicks - 69 

• Social Actions – 7 
 
Facebook 

• People Reached – 5,897 

• Clicks – 54 
 
Google Analytics of PCE Pilot Program Webpage 

• Dates – 6/21 – 7/16 

• Pageviews – 887 (746 unique views) of 9,095 total website views 

• Avg. Time on Page – 3:30mins 

• Sources – 412 direct link, 231 organic search, 226 referred from another site, 20 
from email 

 
 
Spanish Advertising Campaign 
 
Peninsula Clean Energy has launched a You Tube video advertising campaign in 
Spanish to help reduce opt-outs especially among CARE customers. Thank you to local 
Redwood City Chef Manuel Martinez, owner of La Viga and LV Mar restaurants, for 
starring in our Spanish-language ad. We ran the ad on soccer-related Spanish-
language You Tube channels during the World Cup and are continuing the campaign on 
Univision and Telemundo’s general You Tube channels. 
 

Spanish Ad Campaign Combined Results to Date 

• Dates: 6/29/18 – 8/3/18 

• Impressions – 50,300 

• Views – 2,385 

• Highest views in South San Francisco (343 views), San Bruno (333 views), and 
Redwood City (51 views) 

 
 
Enrollment Statistics 
 
Four cities maintained their participation rate in June with “0” opt-outs: Atherton, 
Brisbane, Colma, and Menlo Park. Our overall participation rate is approximately 
97.58% of eligible accounts. 
 



 

-4- 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

There are now over 5,000 accounts in ECO100.  In addition to the County, there are a 
total of 15 ECO100 cities.  The ECO100 towns and cities as of July 18, 2018, include 
Atherton, Belmont, Brisbane, Burlingame, Colma, Foster City, Half Moon Bay, 
Hillsborough, Menlo Park, Millbrae, Portola Valley, Redwood City, San Carlos, San 
Mateo, Woodside, and the County of San Mateo. 
 

 

 

 



 

-5- 

 

 
 
 
 



Item No. 5 

 

 

 
 

PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY 
  Board Correspondence 

 

 

DATE: July 19, 2018 
BOARD MEETING DATE:     July 26, 2018 

SPECIAL NOTICE/HEARING: None 
VOTE REQUIRED: None 

 
 
TO:  Honorable Peninsula Clean Energy Authority (PCE) Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Joseph Wiedman, Director of Regulatory and Legislative Affairs 

Jeremy Waen, Senior Regulatory Analyst 
 
SUBJECT: Update on PCE’s June and July Regulatory and Legislative Activities 
 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
The end of June and early July were somewhat slower on the regulatory and legislative fronts 
as we await decisions in the PCIA (Power Charge Indifference Adjustment) docket and the 
Legislature enters its mid-summer recess. As discussed in more detail below, PCE, as part of 
CalCCA (California Community Choice Association), submitted testimony at the California 
Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) and as part of a coalition of CCAs (Community Choice 
Aggregator), comments at the Air Resources Board. PCE’s regulatory and legislative team 
attended two other stakeholder meetings, detailed under Regulatory Outreach.  
 
DEEPER DIVE: 
 
Regulatory Outreach  
 
On Thursday, June 21, 2018, Jeff Aalfs, Jan Pepper, Joseph Wiedman and Jeremy Waen 
attended the 2018 Silicon Valley Energy Summit hosted by Precourt Energy Efficiency Center at 
Stanford University. 
 
On Friday, June 22, 2018, Jan Pepper and Jeremy Waen attended an “En Banc” which focused 
on issues raised in the staff draft white paper titled California Customer Choice: An Evaluation 
of Regulatory Framework Options for an Evolving Electricity Market, which CPUC staff dubbed 
the “Green Book”1. Discussion focused on a range of matters including whether customers want 
choice, affordability, reliability, and decarbonization goals. Barbara Hale from CleanPowerSF, 

                                                 
1 http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/uploadedFiles/CPUC_Public_Website/Content/Utilities_and_Industries/Energy_-

_Electricity_and_Natural_Gas/Cal%20Customer%20Choice%20Report%20%20v5-17-18.pdf 

http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/uploadedFiles/CPUC_Public_Website/Content/Utilities_and_Industries/Energy_-_Electricity_and_Natural_Gas/Cal%20Customer%20Choice%20Report%20%20v5-17-18.pdf


Item No. 5 

 

 

 

-2- 

 

Mayor Sam Liccardo, City of San Jose, and Supervisor Kate Sears, Marin County, represented 
CCAs at the “En Banc.” 
 
 
Regulatory Advocacy 
 
R.14-07-002 - NEM 2.0 –  On June 21, 2018, the CPUC voted to approve the revised Alternate 
PD2 (rAPD) (revised Alternate Proposed Decision) issued by Commissioner Guzman-Aceves 
(issued as Decision no.18-06-0273). This decision establishes a tariff-based approach to serving 
disadvantaged communities with community-scale renewable energy resources instead of 
utilizing virtual net metering as had been originally proposed by the Commissioner. PCE staff 
continues to review the decision and its implementation to determine if there is an opportunity 
for PCE to offer a community solar program serving our disadvantaged communities under the 
terms and conditions of the decision. 
 
R.17-09-020 – Resource Adequacy – On Tuesday, July 10, 2018, CalCCA submitted testimony 
on “Track 2” issues which covers the need/propriety of multi-year resource adequacy 
contracting and utilization of a “central procurement entity.” CalCCA’s testimony supported 
moving from a year-by-year resource adequacy requirement to a multi-year requirement arguing 
that multi-year procurement of resource adequacy could provide more stability to the market 
and allow resource adequacy providers to spread costs of maintenance and operations over 
multiple years which should lower overall cost of procuring these resources. CalCCA testimony 
also laid out a detailed proposal to transition the resource adequacy procurement framework to 
one where the emergence of CCAs is supported. To do so, the testimony proposed fundamental 
reforms to the current resource adequacy framework to better align identification of need with 
procurement opportunities. CalCCA testimony also supported limited and targeted utilization of 
procurement of certain essential reliability resources by the California Independent System 
Operator (CAISO). Under CalCCA’s proposal, the CAISO would identify facilities essential for 
local system reliability, procure those necessary resources using cost-of-service tools that the 
CAISO already possesses, and spread the cost burden to all benefiting parties including direct 
access, CCA, bundled, and public utility customers.  
 
ARB Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS) - (no docket) – On Thursday, July 5, 2018, the Smart 
EV Charging Coalition, which includes PCE and other CCAs, filed comments4 again supporting 
the ability of a broader group of stakeholders to access LCFS credits. Consistent with prior 
comments, the Coalition is arguing for access to incremental credits that would be available due 
to provisioning of lower carbon intensity energy products to EV owners. The latest set of 
comments also focused on clarifying the hierarchy of who would be able to receive credits, 
alternative tracking mechanisms to utilizing VIN numbers, certain usage requirements for RECs 
related to LCFS, auditing requirements, multifamily charging credits, and the ability of CCAs to 
utilize a Tier 2 application for incremental credits. 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
2 http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M214/K784/214784358.PDF 
3 http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M216/K789/216789285.PDF 
4 https://www.arb.ca.gov/lists/com-attach/252-lcfs18-ADFRb1NiAGRSZAM2.pdf 

http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M214/K784/214784358.PDF
http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M214/K784/214784358.PDF
http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M216/K789/216789285.PDF
https://www.arb.ca.gov/lists/com-attach/252-lcfs18-ADFRb1NiAGRSZAM2.pdf


Item No. 5 

 

 

 

-3- 

 

Legislative Advocacy  
 
CalCCA legislative committee was active on the following bills: 
 
SB 10885 (Dodd) – Would impact third-party ownership of distributed energy resources under 
the guise of safety and reliability planning efforts. CalCCA voted to oppose unless amended. 
 
SB 2376 (Hertzberg) – Would allow unlimited direct access for nonresidential customers (except 
for those customers in the service territories of publicly-owned utilities). CalCCA has not taken a 
position on the bill.  
 
SB 9017 (Dodd) – Precise terms are unknown at this time. Speculation is the bill will serve as a 
vehicle for addressing wildfire mitigation plans which is similar to SB 1088. CalCCA has not 
taken a position on the bill. 
 
AB 338 (Quirk) – Would reform state law to fund coverage of PG&E liability for 2017 wildfires. 
CalCCA has not taken a position on the bill. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Not applicable. 
 
 

                                                 
5 https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB1088 
6 https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB237 
7 https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB901 
8 https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB33 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB1088
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB237
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB901
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB33


Item No. 6 

Page 1 of 3 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY 
JPA Board Correspondence 
 
 DATE: July 17, 2018 
 BOARD MEETING DATE: July 26, 2018 
 SPECIAL NOTICE/HEARING: None 
 VOTE REQUIRED: None   
 
TO:  Honorable Peninsula Clean Energy Authority Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Jan Pepper, Chief Executive Officer, Peninsula Clean Energy 
  Rafael Reyes, Director of Energy Programs  
 
SUBJECT: Local Programs Report  
 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Four of the five programs approved by the Board in April are currently being executed:  

• Community Pilots 

• EV Ride and Drives 

• EV Apartments Technical Assistance, and  

• New Vehicle Dealer Promotion.  
 

The Low-Income Vehicle Incentive is under development with a possible Q4 start. PCE 
has completed scoping and submitted a proposal to the US Department of Energy 
(DOE) on July 13, 2018 for the Multi-Unit Dwelling (MUD) project and the curbside EV 
charging pilot project approved by the Board in June. A proposal by East Bay Clean 
Energy and PCE for scoping resilience projects at critical facilities was awarded 
$300,000 by the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD). 
 
DETAIL 
 
The board approved five programs at the April 26, 2018 meeting with funding totaling 
just under $1.2 million. Below is the status of each program element: 
  



Item No. 6 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 

Program Status 

EV “Ride & Drive” marketing 
events: Special emphasis on 
corporate campuses. 6 events 
reaching ~1,000 participants.  

Events being scheduled. Confirmed events: 
Genentech (8/9), Facebook Festival (8/11), Visa 
(TBD Oct). Others forthcoming. 

Dealer Promotion: Competitive 
solicitation to dealers to deliver 
aggressive cost discount. 

RFP to dealers released 7/13. Responses by 8/3. 

Apartment EV Technical 
Assistance: Assistance program 
for apartment building owners for 
EV infrastructure. 

Workshop held with 27 attendees. Multiple 
properties now in discussion with PCE for 
electrical assessments and other assistance. 

Low-Income Used EV 
Incentive: Incentive program for 
used EV adoption by low-income 
residents. Estimated incentive 
level: $4,000/vehicle. 

Under development. Work has focused on 
aligning the program with the State’s new low-
income Clean Vehicle Assistance Program and 
local partners. Work is on-going and PCE aims to 
launch in Q4. 

Community Pilots: Up to 
$75,000 for innovative near-term 
projects 

Solicitation released on 6/21/18. Proposals are 
due 8/3/18 and scheduled for final review and 
approval at the Board retreat 9/29/18. Q/As with 
community members ongoing. 
https://tinyurl.com/PCECommunityPilots  

 
Additional program activities: 
 
MUD and Curbside Pilot 
On June 28, 2018, the Board approved $1 million for a 3-year pilot program to identify 
and pilot unique technology and business model innovations required for expanded EV 
infrastructure within MUDs and for curbside charging. The pilot program is intended to 
address the lack of excess power in a large segment of the County’s MUD buildings 
(80% are over 50 years old). The funds are also being used for a DOE proposal for an 
additional $1 million submitted on July 13, 2018 for the same project. The proposal 
process was utilized to scope the project. Staff plans to initiate elements of the project 
by fall irrespective of whether the DOE grant is awarded. 
 
Critical Facilities Resilience 
East Bay Clean Energy (EBCE), along with PCE, won a $300,000 grant from the Bay 
Area Air Quality Management District for a scoping study to identify sites and financing 
strategies for municipal critical facilities resilience. EBCE is the prime on this one-year 
project which is expected to begin in Q4. Local governments are encouraged to begin 
identifying prospective sites for potential assessment as part of the scoping study. 
Based on the results of the scoping study, staff may propose to the Board providing 
funding for high priority sites that are a good fit for PV and storage resilience projects. 
PCE may also pursue funding from other sources to implement the projects. 
 

https://tinyurl.com/PCECommunityPilots


Item No. 6 

Page 3 of 3 
 

School Bus Electrification Grant Assistance in DACs  
PCE engaged a consultant to provide technical assistance to Ravenswood (East Palo 
Alto) and Redwood City school districts to collect and submit for CEC electric bus grants 
(GFO-17-607, due Sept 20). 
 
Program Roadmap 
Staff is making progress on developing the first version of a PCE program roadmap. A 
draft roadmap was presented at the July 19, 2018 Citizens Advisory Committee and an 
updated roadmap is scheduled to be presented to the Board at the September 29, 2018 
Board retreat. 
 



Item No. 7 

Page 1 of 2 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY 
JPA Board Correspondence 

 
 DATE: July 17, 2018 
 BOARD MEETING DATE: July 26, 2018 
 SPECIAL NOTICE/HEARING: None 
 VOTE REQUIRED: Majority Vote 
  
 
TO:  Honorable Peninsula Clean Energy Authority Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Jan Pepper, Chief Executive Officer, Peninsula Clean Energy  
 
SUBJECT: Approve Redwood City Resilience Project (CEC GFO-15-312)  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Authorize the commitment of $300,000 in funding over 6 years for phase 2 of the 
Peninsula Advanced Energy Communities (PAEC) project to be proposed to the 
California Energy Commission (CEC) under solicitation GFO-15-312. The funds would be 
used for excess power purchase and other activities from four solar plus storage microgrid 
projects to be deployed at critical facilities within Redwood City disadvantaged community 
areas. Use of funds is contingent approval of the project proposal by the CEC. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The PAEC project led by the Clean Coalition intends to establish four solar plus storage 
microgrids providing indefinite up-time in the event of a grid outage for the following 
facilities: 
 

• City of Redwood City – Corporate Yard 
• San Mateo County – Corporate Yard 
• Redwood City School District 
• Boys & Girls Club of the Peninsula 

 
(The project also includes the Stanford RWC facility under construction. PCE funds are 
not associated with that portion of the project.) 
 



Item No. 7 

Page 2 of 2 
 

These facilities will enable emergency readiness for earthquakes or other emergencies 
resulting in loss of grid power. The services to be provided by these facilities include 
debris removal, Red Cross shelters and other services. In addition, the project will deploy 
30 electric vehicle charge ports for public use. 
 
The facilities are all sited in the Redwood Village and North Fair Oaks neighborhoods of 
Redwood City, and all deployment sites are located in disadvantaged communities per 
the CalEnviroscreen 3.0. 
 
In addition to resilience at public and private facilities, the project will also showcase how 
distributed energy resources (DER) can be configured to provide energy cost savings and 
energy services to the local community. This project may serve as a model for additional 
resilience projects throughout the County. PCE anticipates scoping opportunities for 
additional resilience projects as part of a scoping study grant secured from the Air Quality 
Management District by East Bay Clean Energy with PCE. 
 
PAEC is a six-year project seeking approximately $5 million from the CEC with a total 
project cost of up to $13 million. Sites and infrastructure anticipated to be deployed 
(subject to change): 
 

 
* Note that PCE’s participation is with the Hoover Cluster, Redwood City Corporate Yard, and the San 
Mateo County Corporate Yard.  

 
Specifics on the allocation of PCE funds would be determined as part of a power 
purchase negotiation after funding is secured. Power costs will be dependent on project 
detailed design.  
 
It is anticipated that the project may provide a model for future solar plus storage 
resilience projects throughout the County. 

Site	Name

Meters	or	

Buildings Critical	Loads

NEM	Solar	

[kW	AC]

WDG	

Solar	

[kW	AC]

Total	

Solar	

[kW	AC]

Battery	

[kW]

Battery	

[kWh]

EVCI	

(Level	2)

Stanford	Redwood	

City

Phase	1

P1,	B1-B4
Campus	emergency	

response
886 0 886 251 2,100 52

Hoover	School Shelter	&	food	service 73 203 276 29 150 20

Boys	&	Girls	Club Shelter	&	food	service 11 90 101 0 0 10

Hoover	Park Equipment	staging 0 0 0 0 0 0

Redwood	City	

Corporate	Yard

Redwood	City	

Corporate	Yard

Road	and	public	

facility	maintenance	

and	repair

136 352 488 58 360 *4

SMC	Yard	Meter	1 65 0 65 58 240 0

SMC	Yard	Meter	2 33 121 154 0 0 *4

SMC	Yard	Meter	3 0 79 79 0 0 0

												1,204	 													845	 									2,049	 													396	 2,850 82

Hoover	Cluster	

San	Mateo	County	

Corporate	Yard	

(SMC	Yard)

Road	and	public	

facility	maintenance	

and	repair

New	Deployments	TOTAL



Page 1 of 2 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____________ 

PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY, COUNTY OF SAN MATEO, STATE OF 

CALIFORNIA 

 *   *   *   *   *   *  

RESOLUTION APPROVING A TOTAL OF $300,000 IN MATCHING FUNDS FOR 

FISCAL YEARS 2019 THROUGH 2025 FOR THE PENINSULA ADANCED ENERGY 

COMMUNITIES (PAEC) PHASE 2 PROPOSAL TO THE CALIFORNIA ENERGY 

COMMISSION FOR A SOLAR PLUS STORAGE RESILIENCE PROJECT IN 

REDWOOD CITY  

______________________________________________________________ 

RESOLVED, by the Peninsula Clean Energy Authority of the County of San 

Mateo, State of California, that 

WHEREAS, emergency readiness is important to the San Mateo County 

community given the high risk of major earthquakes and other risks that could result in 

the loss of grid power; and 

WHEREAS, solar plus storage holds promise for robust, clean resilience in the 

event of an emergency and can also provide other energy benefits; and 

WHEREAS, the Peninsula Advanced Energy Communities (PAEC) project led by 

the Clean Coalition intends to establish four solar plus storage microgirds in order to 

provide indefinite up-time in the event of a grid outage; and  

WHEREAS, the project will also deploy thirty (30) electric vehicles for public use 

in disadvantaged communities;  



Page 2 of 2 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY DETERMINED AND ORDERED that the 

Board approves project matching funds totaling $300,000 for the Fiscal Years 2019 

through 2025 for the Peninsula Advanced Energy Communities Phase 2 proposal to the 

California Energy Commission for solar plus storage emergency readiness in Redwood 

City.  

 



Item No. 8 

 

 

 
 

PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY 
  Board Correspondence 

 

 
DATE: July 16, 2018 

BOARD MEETING DATE:     July 26, 2018 
SPECIAL NOTICE/HEARING: None 

VOTE REQUIRED: Majority Present 
 

 
TO: 
 

Honorable Peninsula Clean Energy Authority Board of Directors 

FROM: 
 

Siobhan Doherty, Director of Power Resources 
 

SUBJECT: Approve the Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) to be submitted to the California 
Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) by August 1, 2018 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
Approve PCE’s California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) in 
a form similar to that attached here and delegate authority to the CEO to file the IRP with the 
CPUC on or before the deadline.  Staff may make some small changes and corrections to 
ensure that the requirements of the CPUC are met.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
At June’s Board meeting, staff presented a preview of the Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) that 
PCE is required to prepare for the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC).  Preparation of 
the IRP does not involve any new policy decisions or changes to PCE’s existing, Board-
approved procurement priorities or procedures.  The draft IRP is attached to this memo for Board 
review  
 
The proposed portfolio has changed slightly from what was initially presented at June’s Board 
meeting in order to increase the amount of energy from solar and storage and decrease the 
amount of energy from wind.  This better aligns with the CPUC reference portfolio, which 
describes the ideal portfolio for all of California and better reflects the resources that are 
available to Load Serving Entities (LSEs) in California.   
 
All Load Serving Entities (LSEs) in California are required to produce and submit to the CPUC an 
IRP by August 1, 2018.  This is a different kind of document from the strategic IRP that PCE 
produced and the Board approved in December 2017.  This CPUC IRP was mandated by SB350 
and over the past two years, the CPUC has had an ongoing proceeding to develop the 
requirements for the IRP. One of the requirements that has emerged from this CPUC proceeding 
is for a prescriptive technical compliance document.  The main purpose of the CPUC IRP is to 
provide CPUC staff with the inputs from each Load Serving Entity (LSE) to forecast industry-wide 
procurement and GHG (Greenhouse Gas) emissions from the electricity sector in 2030.   



Item No. 14 

 

-2- 

 

 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The CPUC-mandated IRP is part of a larger two-year cycle of IRP planning at the CPUC. The 
main steps of the IRP process are:  
 

1. Statewide modeling at the CPUC to determine the aggregate transitions needed for the 
electricity sector to meet its 2030 GHG reduction goals under SB 350. This was 
completed in fall 2017 and published as the Reference System Plan.  This process will 
continue to take place in odd numbered years.   

2. Individual LSEs’ IRPs are submitted to the CPUC, due August 1, 2018.  Future IRPs will 
be due every other year by June 1.  The next IRP will be due June 1, 2020.   

3. Aggregation of the individual IRPs by the CPUC into the Preferred System Plan, which 
represents the aggregate behavior of the electricity sector if all LSEs procure according 
to their IRPs. This is done by inputting data from the IRPs into the same statewide model 
used to produce the Reference System Plan.   

4. CPUC comparison between the Reference System Plan and the Preferred System Plan 
to determine whether sector-wide GHG mitigation targets will be met and whether 
corrective action is needed. 

 
The CPUC has come up with a required structure for IRPs that fulfills this function1: 
 

1. A pair of Excel spreadsheet templates where LSEs document their existing and planned 
contracts;  

2. An Excel GHG calculator tool LSEs use to determine their projected future GHG 
emissions under a CPUC-selected GHG accounting methodology; and  

3. A written report documenting the goals, methodology, and assumptions behind the data 
in the Excel materials.  The report follows a standardized outline developed by CPUC 
staff. 

 
This is the first year that Integrated Resource Planning (IRP) is being implemented in California, 
and the compliance process is evolving weekly as CCA staff identify points of ambiguity and 
work with the CPUC to clarify them.  PCE staff will present additional details on the IRP 
requirements and PCE’s strategy in a slide presentation at the July Board meeting.   
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

                                                 
1 All materials described are available on the CPUC’s website here: http://cpuc.ca.gov/irp/filingtemplates/ 



 

1 

28637147v1  

RESOLUTION NO. _____________ 

PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY, COUNTY OF SAN MATEO, STATE OF 

CALIFORNIA 

 *   *   *   *   *   *  

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE INTEGRATED RESOURCE PLAN (IRP) TO BE 

SUBMITTED TO THE CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION (CPUC) BY 

AUGUST 1, 2018 

______________________________________________________________ 

RESOLVED, by the Peninsula Clean Energy Authority of the County of San 

Mateo, State of California, that 

WHEREAS, all Load Serving Entities (LSEs) in California are required to produce 

and submit to the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) an Integrated Resource 

Plan (IRP) by August 1, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, PCE is a Load Serving Entity (LSE) in California and therefore is 

required to submit an IRP to the CPUC; and  

WHEREAS, the CPUC has directed CCAs to seek Board approval for the IRP 

prior to submission. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY DETERMINED AND ORDERED that the 

Board approves PCE’s California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) Integrated 

Resource Plan (IRP) in a form similar to that provided and delegates authority to the 

CEO to file the IRP with the CPUC on or before the deadline.    



 

2 

28637147v1  

*   *   *   *   *   * 



 

1 

 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

Standard LSE Plan 
  
 

PENINSULA CLEAN ENERGY AUTHORITY 

2018 INTEGRATED RESOURCE PLAN 

AUGUST 1, 2018 

 
  



 

2 

Table of Contents 
1. Executive Summary ............................................................................................................ 3 

1.1 About Peninsula Clean Energy (PCE) .......................................................................... 3 

1.1.1 Enrolled Customers .............................................................................................. 4 

1.1.2 Retail Products ........................................................................................................... 4 

1.1.3 Strategic IRP......................................................................................................... 5 

2. Study Design ...................................................................................................................... 6 

2.1 Objectives .................................................................................................................... 6 

2.1.1 GHG-Free by 2021 ............................................................................................... 6 

2.1.2 100% Renewable by 2025 .................................................................................... 6 

2.1.3 Designing a Diverse and Balanced Portfolio ......................................................... 7 

2.2 Methodology ................................................................................................................ 8 

2.2.1 Modeling Tool(s) ................................................................................................... 8 

2.2.2 Modeling Approach ............................................................................................... 8 

2.2.3 Assumptions ........................................................................................................10 

3. Study Results .....................................................................................................................10 

3.1 Portfolio Results ..........................................................................................................10 

3.2 Preferred and Conforming Portfolios ...........................................................................12 

3.2.1 Local Air Pollutant Minimization ...........................................................................14 

3.2.2 Cost and Rate Analysis ........................................................................................20 

3.3 Deviations from Current Resource Plans ....................................................................21 

3.4 Local Needs Analysis ..................................................................................................21 

4. Action Plan .........................................................................................................................21 

4.1 Proposed Activities .....................................................................................................21 

4.2 Barrier Analysis ...........................................................................................................22 

4.3 Proposed Commission Direction .................................................................................22 

5. Data ...................................................................................................................................22 

5.1 Baseline Resource Data Template ..............................................................................22 

5.2 New Resource Data Template ....................................................................................23 

5.3 Other Data Reporting Guidelines ................................................................................23 

6. Lessons Learned ...............................................................................................................23 

Appendix A: Peninsula Clean Energy’s Strategic IRP ...............................................................25 

Appendix B: Resolution Approving Peninsula Clean Energy’s CPUC IRP Filing .......................26 

 
  



 

3 

1. Executive Summary 

In accordance with the requirements of Senate Bill 350 and the California Public Utilities 
Commission (CPUC) Decision 18-02-018, Peninsula Clean Energy (PCE) respectfully submits 
its 2018 Integrated Resource Plan (IRP).  The IRP is comprised of this written narrative as well 
as the following three attachments as provided by the CPUC: 
 

i. Completed CPUC Baseline Resource Data Template;  

ii. Completed CPUC New Resource Data Template; and 

iii. Completed CPUC GHG Calculator for IRP v1.4.5.  

This IRP was approved by PCE’s Board of Directors on ______ and the resolution documenting 
this approval is attached as Appendix B.   
 
PCE is submitting a conforming portfolio which was developed using the GHG Calculator and 
default assumptions provided by the CPUC.  This portfolio produces 2030 emissions estimates 
(as calculated by the GHG Calculator) below the 2030 benchmark assigned to PCE in 
Rulemaking 06-02-007 filed on May 25, 2018.  In the sections below, we discuss our 
methodology for developing this portfolio.   
 
As 2018 is the first iteration of this planning exercise, PCE is not submitting any alternative 
portfolios and has relied on the assumptions used in developing the Reference System Plan 
and contained in the CPUC’s GHG Calculator.  In two years when the next IRP submission is 
due, we expect that we will have more data on historical load, distributed energy resources, and 
expected energy storage dispatch profiles which will allow us to potentially provide more in-
depth analysis.  If the same IRP process is in place, PCE may at that time choose to submit an 
alternative portfolio that more closely aligns with PCE’s internal forecasts.     

1.1 About Peninsula Clean Energy (PCE) 

PCE is a community choice energy (CCE) program and San Mateo County’s official electricity 
provider.  PCE is a joint powers agency, formed in February 2016, consisting of the County of 
San Mateo and all twenty of its cities.  Following a comprehensive feasibility study, consistent 
with AB 32 voluntary action pathways, elected officials from each member jurisdiction 
unanimously agreed to form PCE to meet their local climate action goals and for the benefit of 
San Mateo County.   
 
PCE is primarily regulated by its Board of Directors.  Each member jurisdiction from San Mateo 
County has one seat on PCE’s Board of Directors (except for San Mateo County, which has 
two) for a total of 22 board members.  The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the 
overall strategy for PCE.  Board meetings are held on the fourth Thursday of each month at 
6:30 PM at PCE’s offices in Redwood City.  As prescribed by the Brown Act and the CCA 
institutional model, all Board meetings are open to the public and all meeting materials are 
posted online.   
 
PCE began serving its first phase of customers in October 2016, which included all small and 
medium commercial customers and 20% of residential customers.  The second phase of 
customers were enrolled in April 2017, consisting of all other customers, including large 
commercial and industrial, agricultural, and the remaining residential customers.   



 

4 

 
1.1.1 Enrolled Customers 
PCE serves approximately 300,000 customer accounts representing approximately 765,000 
residents.  Table 1 shows the breakdown between commercial/industrial customers and 
residential customers in PCE’s service territory.  Customers are automatically enrolled in PCE 
and have the option to opt-out of PCE and return to PG&E for electric service.  Customer 
participation rates are expressed as the proportion of customer accounts currently served by 
PCE relative to the total number of electric customer accounts in San Mateo County eligible for 

PCE service.1  The difference between such numbers reflects the subset of customer accounts 

who have voluntarily opted out of the PCE program, retaining bundled service by PG&E.  As of 
publication, the customer participation rate associated with PCE’s membership is greater than 
97% (i.e., the opt-out rate is approximately 2.54%).   
 
Table 1: PCE Participation by Customer Type 

  Total PCE Residential Commercial, Industrial  

Number of Customer 
Accounts 

291,161 
262,900 28,261 

90.3% 9.7% 

Total Retail Sales (kWh) 3,513,150,186 
1,366,407,267 2,146,742,919 

38.9% 61.1% 

 
PCE provides cleaner and greener electricity, at lower rates than the incumbent investor-owned 
utility (IOU), Pacific Gas & Electric Company (PG&E).  PCE plans for and secures commitments 
from a diverse portfolio of energy generating resources to reliably serve the electric energy 
requirements of its customers over the near-, mid-, and long-term planning horizons.   
 

1.1.2 Retail Products 
PCE customers can choose between two different product options, ECOplus and ECO100.  
Each product has a different amount of energy from renewable sources such as solar and wind.  
Table 4 summarizes customer participation in each product as of mid-2018.   
 
Table 2: Participation Rates by Product in June 2017 – July 2018 

  Total PCE ECOplus Eco100 

Number of Customer 
Accounts 

291,161 
285,823 5338 

98.2% 1.8% 

Total Retail Sales (kWh) 3,513,150,186 
3,368,558,627 144,591,559 

95.9% 4.1% 

 
1.1.2.1 ECOplus  
ECOplus is PCE’s default electric option, in which new customers 
are automatically enrolled.  ECOplus rates are set at 5% below 
PG&E’s generation rates.  Fifty percent of the electricity comes 
from renewable sources and this product will be 85% GHG-free in 
2018.   

                                                
1 Direct Access customers are not automatically enrolled in a CCE program.   The Direct Access (DA) Program allows 
a limited selection of non-residential consumers in California to purchase their electricity from an ESP rather than 
from their IOU or default electricity supplier.   



 

5 

 
1.1.2.2 ECO100  
Customers can choose to “opt up” to ECO100 and receive 100% 
of their electricity from renewable energy resources.  ECO100 
costs $0.01 per kWh more than ECOplus.   As of mid-2018, over 
5,000 accounts opted-up to ECO100.  As part of their emission 
reduction targets and sustainability goals, 16 cities and the County 
of San Mateo enrolled their accounts in ECO100.  The ECO100 option also provides an 
opportunity for corporate customers to meet their own sustainability goals.  For example, Visa 
and Facebook have both chosen the ECO100 offering for their electricity use in San Mateo 

County.2  As of January 2018, the ECO100 product is certified by the Center for Resource 
Solutions’ (CRS) Green-e certification program.   
 

1.1.3 Strategic IRP 
In December 2017, PCE’s Board approved a strategic Integrated Resources Plan (Strategic 
IRP), which provides guidance for serving the electric needs of the residents and businesses in 
San Mateo County while meeting PCE’s policy objectives and regulatory requirements over a 
10-year planning period from 2018-2027.  The Strategic IRP addresses how PCE will meet the 
following targets by managing a portfolio of energy and capacity resources to:  
 
 Meet California’s Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) requirements of 29% of retail 

electricity sales to come from renewable energy sources in 2018.  This percentage 

increases to 50% by 2030.   

 Provide the necessary capacity reserves to meet California’s Resource Adequacy (RA) 

regulatory requirements for load-serving entities.   

 Maintain a minimum renewable energy content of 50% for its ECOplus product, and 

100% for its ECO100 product, while working towards a goal of increasing PCE’s 

renewable content to 100% renewable energy for all PCE customers by 2025.   

 Meet its GHG-free target of 85% for 2018 and increase its GHG-free energy by 5% per 

year to 100% GHG-free in 2021.   

The Strategic IRP documents PCE’s current procurement status and outlines PCE’s resource 
planning policies and objectives over a ten-year planning timeframe.  Periodically, PCE staff will 
update the IRP and submit it to PCE’s Board for approval.  Such approval is made in 
consideration of applicable regulatory requirements, PCE policy objectives, energy market 
conditions, anticipated changes in electricity sales, ongoing procurement activities, and any 
other considerations that may affect how PCE carries out its resource planning.   
 
The Strategic IRP had four primary purposes: 
 

(1) Document current procurement status following our first year of operations;  

(2) Quantify resource needs over a ten-year planning period;  

(3) Articulate relevant energy procurement policies;  

                                                
2 Facebook ECO100 Press Release: https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Facebook-
is-Largest-ECO100-Customer-092117.pdf 

Visa ECO100 Press Release: https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/050218-PCE-
Release-v.8-Final.pdf  

https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Facebook-is-Largest-ECO100-Customer-092117.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Facebook-is-Largest-ECO100-Customer-092117.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/050218-PCE-Release-v.8-Final.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/050218-PCE-Release-v.8-Final.pdf


 

6 

(4) Communicate PCE’s resource planning policies, objectives and planning framework to 

the public and key stakeholder groups.   

 
In practical terms, the Strategic IRP specifies the energy procurement policies adopted by 
PCE’s Board and serves as a guideline to PCE staff regarding day-to-day energy planning and 
procurement activities.  The Strategic IRP is attached to this document as Appendix A.   
 

2. Study Design 

2.1 Objectives 

PCE’s primary objectives in submitting this IRP are as follows:  
 

i. To demonstrate that PCE has a plan to meet its CEC 2017 IEPR load forecast through 

2030;  

ii. To share with the CPUC PCE’s conforming planned portfolio for 2030; and 

iii. To demonstrate that this plan meets the 2030 assigned emissions benchmark of 0.636 

MMT as calculated using the CPUC GHG Calculator for IRP v1.4.5.   

Further, we attempt to meet both the requirements set out by the CPUC as well as to continue 
to meet the objectives set out in PCE’s Strategic IRP.  In addition to regulatory mandates, PCE 
has set its own goals and policies that go beyond the RPS requirements.   
 

2.1.1 GHG-Free by 2021 
Reducing electric utility-sector GHG emissions is one of PCE’s charter objectives.  PCE started 
with a 75% GHG-free supply portfolio in 2016, increased to a target of 80% in 2017 and is on 
track for 85% for 2018.  The total GHG-free energy supply will increase by 5% per year, with the 
goal of achieving a 100% GHG-free supply portfolio by 2021.   
 
2.1.2 100% Renewable by 2025 
PCE intends to replace the conventional and non-renewable GHG-free energy resources in its 
supply portfolio with renewable resources.  Actual annual renewable content percentages may 
differ from projections, if resource availability or market conditions preclude cost-effective 
procurement, but the primary goal is to achieve a 100% RPS-eligible renewable supply no later 
than 2025.   
 
Further, in providing customers with 100% renewable energy, PCE intends to match its 
electricity supply portfolio to its customer electricity demand profile on a time coincident basis.  
This means that for every hour of the year, we want the amount of energy we are procuring from 
renewable generators to be equal to the amount of energy that our customers are consuming in 
that hour.   
 
Finally, the PCE Board has adopted the following three specific policies to guide power 
procurement:  
 



 

7 

i. PCE shall not use unbundled renewable energy credits (RECs) for meeting its 

renewable energy goals.3   

ii. In sourcing electricity and resource adequacy, PCE will not procure electricity or 

resource adequacy from coal facilities.4   

iii. PCE has published a Sustainable Workforce Policy.  PCE desires to facilitate and 

accomplish the following objectives through this policy:  

a. Support for and direct use of local businesses;  

b. Support for and direct use of union members from multiple trades;  

c. Support for and use of training and State of California approved apprenticeship 

programs, and pre-apprenticeship programs from within PCE’s service territory; 

and  

d. Support for and direct use of green and sustainable businesses.5     

 
2.1.3 Designing a Diverse and Balanced Portfolio 
PCE’s goal is to fulfill its open position with a diverse set of contracts.  PCE uses a portfolio risk 
management approach in its power purchasing program, seeking low cost supply as well as 
diversity among technologies, production profiles, project sizes, project locations, 
counterparties, term lengths and timing of market purchases to cost average over time, 

including remaining cognizant of the value of open market positions.6  These factors are taken 
into consideration when PCE engages the market and PCE has developed specific guidelines 
for each of these diversification factors.  Figure 1 identifies the attributes PCE strives to balance 
in terms of diversity of its power supply.   
 
Specifically, PCE has set a guideline to target a minimum 50% of the portfolio be procured from 
new projects by 2025 and procure at least 50% of our portfolio from long-term contracts.  
Further details are outlined in the Strategic IRP attached as Appendix A starting on page 25.  In 
2018 and beyond, PCE will strive to procure resources to meet the guidelines outlined in the 
Strategic IRP.  PCE has attempted to follow these guidelines within the confines of the CPUC 
IRP process in developing its Conforming Portfolio.   
 

                                                
3 PCE policy on unbundled RECs: https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-Policy-
11-final.pdf  

4 PCE Policy excluding coal for power and resource adequacy: https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-
content/uploads/2017/01/Policy-12-Excluding-Coal-for-Power-and-Resource-Adequacy.pdf  

5 PCE Sustainable Workforce Policy: https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-
Policy-10-final-1.pdf. 

6 Discussion of each of these factors is contained in PCE’s Strategic IRP starting on page 51. 

https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-Policy-11-final.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-Policy-11-final.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Policy-12-Excluding-Coal-for-Power-and-Resource-Adequacy.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Policy-12-Excluding-Coal-for-Power-and-Resource-Adequacy.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-Policy-10-final-1.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-Policy-10-final-1.pdf


 

8 

Figure 1: Contract Diversity Attributes 

 

2.2 Methodology 

2.2.1 Modeling Tool(s) 
PCE used the GHG Calculator provided by the CPUC for calculating resource needs through 
2030 and expected GHG emissions in 2030.   
 
2.2.2 Modeling Approach 
PCE first evaluated the projected load in the CEC 2017 IEPR forecast and load profile in the 
CPUC’s GHG Calculator for IRP v1.4.5.  While the total GWh projected in the CEC 2017 IEPR 
forecast are in line with PCE’s internal estimates, the shape of the load profile differed from 
PCE’s internal load forecast.  PCE’s internal load forecast is based on actual historical usage.  
As evident in Figure 2, PCE’s forecasted load shape is higher in the winter months and lower in 
the summer months than the conforming load profile.  This is due to PCE’s territory being 
located in a more temperate region than the state average, requiring less air conditioning load in 
the summer.  This discrepancy results in a much higher forecast peak load using the CPUC 
GHG Calculator than using PCE’s internal load shape forecast.  In the Lessons Learned section 
below, we discuss in more detail the potential impacts of this type of discrepancy.   
 

Term Length

Ownership

Location

Technology

Size

Additionality



 

9 

Figure 2: Average Hourly Load by Month 

 
 
PCE matched its baseline resources with the categories provided in the CPUC’s GHG 
Calculator v1.4.5.  Once the contracted resources were included in the CPUC’s GHG 
Calculator, PCE evaluated the open position calculated by the GHG calculator on an hourly 
basis.   
 
For identifying new resources, PCE balanced the following considerations:  

• Requirements of the CPUC IRP’s Conforming Portfolio 

o Using the CEC’s 2017 IEPR forecast; and  

o Meeting the GHG Benchmark assigned to PCE of 0.636 MMT.  

• Regulatory requirements:  

o RPS targets of 33% by 2020 and 50% by 2030; 

o 65% of RPS procurement under contracts of 10 years or longer by 2021;  

o Energy storage targets under AB 2514; and  

o Resource Adequacy requirements.   

• PCE’s procurement goals and objectives:  

o 100% GHG Free by 2021;  

o 100% renewable on a time-coincident basis by 2025;  

o 50% of the portfolio from new resources by 2025; and 

o 50% of the portfolio from long-term contracts by 2025.  

• Risk exposure:  

o Procuring from a diverse set of resources;  

o Potential for curtailment; and 

o Forecasted locational marginal prices. 

Using the GHG Calculator assumptions, PCE identified a portfolio that balanced the 
considerations outlined above.   

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1 6 11 16 21 2 7 12 17 22 3 8 13 18 23 4 9 14 19 24 5 10 15 20 1 6 11 16 21 2 7 12 17 22 3 8 13 18 23 4 9 14 19 24 5 10 15 20 1 6 11 16 21 2 7 12 17 22

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

M
W

Month

Conforming Load 2030 PCE Load 2030



 

10 

 
2.2.3 Assumptions 
 
PCE used assumptions consistent with the Reference System Plan and the default assumptions 
in the GHG Calculator in its IRP modeling.   
 
For projecting load across the IRP planning horizon, PCE used the “mid Baseline mid AAEE mid 
AAPV” version of Form 1.1c of the CEC’s adopted 2017 IEPR forecast as identified in Table 3 
below.   
 
Table 3: PCE 2017 IEPR Assigned Load Load Forecast 

 2018 2022 2026 2030 

Assigned Load Forecast for IRP (i.e., 
Managed Retail Sales Forecast) GWh 

3,804 3,710 3,641 3,579 

 
 
PCE is electing to use the LSE-specific GHG Emissions Benchmark assigned to PCE in 
Rulemaking 06-02-007 filed on May 25, 2018 — rather than the GHG Planning Price — in 
developing its Conforming Portfolio as identified in Table 4 below.   
 
Table 4: LSE-Specific GHG Emissions Benchmark 

 2030 GHG Emissions (MMT) 

GHG Emissions Benchmark 0.636 

 
PCE is in the process of developing customer programs and expect that upon implementation, 
these programs will impact inputs including electric vehicle charging, building electrification, and 
energy efficiency among others.  In future IRPs, PCE may explore these areas in more detail 
and may present an alternative portfolio incorporating different assumptions.   

3. Study Results 

3.1 Portfolio Results 

PCE is submitting a Conforming Portfolio.  This portfolio uses the assigned load forecast and 
the 2030 GHG emissions as calculated by the CPUC’s GHG Calculator are below the assigned 
GHG Benchmark.   
 
Table 5: Conforming Portfolio 

Conforming Portfolio 2018 2022 2026 2030 

Assigned Load Forecast (GWh) 3,804 3,710 3,641 3,579 

Annual Emissions Estimated by GHG 
Calculator (MMT) 

0.354 0.002 (0.023) 0.001 

 
The Conforming Portfolio’s content is itemized in the completed Baseline Resources Data 
Template and New Resources Data Template.   
 
PCE’s Conforming Portfolio is presented on a capacity (MW) basis in Figure 3 below and by 
generation (GWh) in Figure 4 below.   



 

11 

 
Figure 3: 2030 Conforming Portfolio by MW Capacity 

 
 
 
Figure 4: Conforming Portfolio by Generation (GWh) 

 
 
PCE also evaluated how resource generation would fit the load shape on an hourly basis.  
Figure 5 below demonstrates how the Conforming Portfolio matches the assigned load and 
PCE’s internal load forecast.   
 

Utility-Scale 
Solar
39%

Wind
17%

BTM PV
14%

Geothermal
4%

Small Hydro 
1%

Storage
25%

Proposed Conforming Portfolio by MW 
Capacity

Utility-Scale 
Solar, 46%

Wind, 24%

BTM PV, 12%

Geothermal, 
16%

Small Hydro , 
2%

Proposed Conforming Portfolio by 
Generation (GWh)



 

12 

Figure 5: 2030 Conforming Portfolio Generation and Load Balance for January, April, July and October 

 
 
PCE’s goal is to be 100% renewable by 2025 and match renewable generation to load on an 
hourly basis.  Actual procurement may differ from these goals if resource availability or market 
conditions preclude cost-effective procurement.  
 
The Conforming Proposal represents our best attempt to achieve this goal using the profiles 
provided by the CPUC’s GHG Calculator.  We recognize that this portfolio does not fully 
accomplish this goal; we are over-procured in certain hours and under-procured in other hours.  
PCE expects that we may be able to better match our supply to our load through a variety of 
means including but not limited to changing the dispatch patterns of storage resources and 
demand response.  For this initial year, PCE has chosen to use the assumptions provided by 
the CPUC in the GHG calculator for storage dispatch.  However, in future years, PCE may 
choose to present an alternative portfolio that incorporates storage charge and discharge 
profiles that better match internal assumptions.   

3.2 Preferred and Conforming Portfolios 

As PCE is only submitting a Conforming Portfolio, the Conforming Portfolio is its Preferred 
Portfolio.  PCE requests that the Commission certify the completeness of PCE’s IRP detailing 
PCE’s Conforming Portfolio, as summarized above and detailed in the completed Baseline 
Resource Data Template and New Resource Data Template.  PCE’s conforming portfolio is 
consistent with each relevant statutory and administrative requirement stated in Public Utilities 
Code Section 454.52(a)(1):  
 
(a) (1) Beginning in 2017, and to be updated regularly thereafter, the commission shall adopt a 
process for each load-serving entity, as defined in Section 380, to file an integrated resource 
plan, and a schedule for periodic updates to the plan, to ensure that load-serving entities do the 
following: 
 
(A) Meet the greenhouse gas emissions reduction targets established by the State Air 
Resources Board, in coordination with the commission and the Energy Commission, for the 
electricity sector and each load-serving entity that reflect the electricity sector’s percentage in 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1 5 9 13 17 21 1 5 9 13 17 21 1 5 9 13 17 21 1 5 9 13 17 21

1 4 7 10

M
W

h

Average 24-Hour Load and Generation by Month

Charge

Discharge

Utility-Scale Solar

BTM_Distributed_PV

Wind

Geothermal

Small Hydro

PCE Load 2030

Conforming Load 2030



 

13 

achieving the economywide greenhouse gas emissions reductions of 40 percent from 1990 
levels by 2030.    

 
PCE’s Conforming Portfolio 2030 GHG emissions of 0.001 MMT are significantly below the 
assigned benchmark for PCE of 0.636 MMT when calculated using the CPUC’s GHG Calculator 
for IRP v1.4.5.    

 
(B) Procure at least 50 percent eligible renewable energy resources by December 31, 2030, 
consistent with Article 16 (commencing with Section 399.11) of Chapter 2.3.  
 
PCE’s goal is to be 100% renewable by 2025.  PCE’s Conforming Portfolio is 100% renewable 
and demonstrates that PCE will achieve 50% RPS before 2030.  
 
(C) Enable each electrical corporation to fulfill its obligation to serve its customers at just and 
reasonable rates.  
 
PCE’s rates are currently set at 5% below PG&E’s rate.  As detailed in Section 3(b)(ii) below 
PCE is committed to serving our customer at reasonable rates.   
 
(D) Minimize impacts on ratepayers’ bills.  
 
In addition to setting rates that are competitive with PG&E, PCE works to minimize rate volatility 
by constructing a balanced and conservatively-hedged power supply portfolio, building 

significant financial reserves7 and minimizing rate changes to once per year when possible.   
 
(E) Ensure system and local reliability.  
 
PCE procures system, local and flexible RA on a long-term, multi-year, year-ahead and month-
ahead basis to meet CPUC and CAISO Resource Adequacy (RA) requirements.  Further, PCE 
works to structure its supply portfolio to minimize hourly imbalances between load and supply.  
PCE’s Conforming Portfolio also contemplates procuring significant storage resources, which 
will contribute to reliability.   
 
(F) Strengthen the diversity, sustainability, and resilience of the bulk transmission and 
distribution systems, and local communities.  
 
PCE’s Conforming Portfolio relies on procurement from a variety of resource types as well as 
significant storage resources.  PCE carefully evaluates the long-term generation load-matching 
and congestion risks of new resources and weighs its options in the context of its existing 
supply and net demand on an hourly basis for the full duration of any contract period.  
 
(G) Enhance distribution systems and demand-side energy management.  
 
PCE is in the process of developing customer programs to support demand-side energy 
management.   
 

                                                
7 PCE Financial Reserves Policy: https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/PCE-Policy-
18-Reserves-Policy_Adopted-0628818.pdf  

https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/PCE-Policy-18-Reserves-Policy_Adopted-0628818.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/PCE-Policy-18-Reserves-Policy_Adopted-0628818.pdf


 

14 

(H) Minimize localized air pollutants and other greenhouse gas emissions, with early priority on 
disadvantaged communities identified pursuant to Section 39711 of the Health and Safety 
Code.  
Please refer to the section directly below.   
 
3.2.1 Local Air Pollutant Minimization 
 

3.2.1.1 Introduction  
PCE’s Preferred Portfolio is a 100% renewable portfolio.  PCE’s current portfolio is at least 50% 
renewable and 85% GHG free because that is PCE’s default product offering.  PCE plans to 
increase the GHG and renewable portions of its default offering so that it is 100% GHG free in 
2021 and 100% RPS-eligible renewable in 2025.  Further, PCE does not currently procure and 
does not plan to procure electricity directly from any fossil fueled power plants.  PCE’s 
Conforming Portfolio relies on a variety of renewable resources which will benefit all 
communities in California including disadvantaged communities (DACs).  In the sections below, 
PCE has provided the requested information on DACs located in PCE’s service territory.  PCE 
has also provided information on programs PCE is launching to benefit customers in DACs.    
 

3.2.1.2 Disadvantaged Communities (DACs) 
The CPUC’s IRP guidelines define “disadvantaged communities” (DACs) as those identified in 
CalEnviroScreen 3.0 as the top 25% of impacted census tracts on a statewide basis and the top 
5% of census tracts without an overall score but with highest pollution burden.  PCE identified 
six census tracts in San Mateo County in the top 25% of impacted census tracts, thereby 
meeting this definition of disadvantaged communities (“DACs”).  There are no census tracts 
within San Mateo County without an overall score, but with the highest pollution burden.  Please 
refer to Table 6 below for a list of the census tracts and relevant demographic data.  Figure 6 
below provides a map to the location of each census tract in San Mateo County.   
 

Table 6: San Mateo County’s Disadvantaged Communities8 

CalEnviroScreen 3.0 Results PCE DACs
9
 Demographics (%) 

 

Census 
Tract  

CES 
3.0 % 

 CES 3.0  
% Range 

City Population 
Customer 
Accounts 

H
is

p
a
n

ic
 

W
h

it
e

 

A
fr

ic
a

n
 A

m
e
ri

c
a

n
 

N
a
ti

v
e
 A

m
e
ri

c
a
n

 

A
s
ia

n
 A

m
e
ri

c
a

n
 

O
th

e
r 

1 6081611900 86.85 86-90% East Palo Alto 10,325 1,235 56.9 6.8 19.8 0.1 13.3 3.1 

2 6081612000 81.70 81-85% East Palo Alto 7,327 710 72.8 3.2 13 0.1 9.0 2.0 

3 6081602300 80.89 81-85% 
South San 
Francisco 

3,753 1,160 45.4 19.5 1.5 0.2 30.3 3.2 

4 6081610201 80.20 81-85% Redwood City 5,764 2,125 74.4 12.1 2.5 0.4 8.3 2.2 

5 6081602100 77.93 76-80% 
South San 
Francisco 

3,615 943 72.4 9.0 1.9 0.4 14.1 2.1 

6 6081604200 75.46 76-80% San Bruno 4,170 888 56.9 14.9 0.9 0.5 23.1 3.7 

    Total 34,954 7,061  

                                                
8 Table 6 includes data from https://oehha.ca.gov/calenviroscreen/report/calenviroscreen-30, under CalEnviroScreen          

   3.0 Data and Additional Materials - ces3results.xlxs (updated June 2018) 
9 Not included in CalEnviroScreen 3.0 results, figures calculated by PCE. 

 

https://oehha.ca.gov/calenviroscreen/report/calenviroscreen-30


 

15 

 
 
Figure 6: Map of DACs in San Mateo County (Numbers correlate to census tracts in Table 6) 

 

 
  

3.2.1.3 Customers Served in DACs 
PCE estimates that it has 7,061 residential accounts in DACs located within San Mateo County, 
as defined by the CPUC guidance. This represents roughly 2.4% of PCE’s total customer 
accounts. 
 
The CalEnviroScreen 3.0 identifies disadvantaged communities by census tract, however, PCE 
doesn't currently capture customer data in this granularity.  To determine an accurate estimate, 
PCE used the USPS Zip Code Crosswalk files provided online by the Department of Housing 

and Urban Development (HUD)10.  HUD uses the United States Postal Service's database to 
reflect the locations of both residential and business addresses to help merge census tracts with 
zip codes.  PCE uses this method because it allocates data based on residential addresses 

                                                
10 https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/usps_crosswalk.html   

1 

3 

4 

5 

6 

2 

https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/usps_crosswalk.html


 

16 

rather than by area or population, a more accurate approach to determine how many accounts 
are in each census tract.  Please reference Table 6 for the number of PCE customer accounts 
in each of the disadvantaged census tracts. 
 

3.2.1.4 Power Procurement in DACs 
PCE does not procure power directly from any natural gas or other fossil resources.  
Further, there are no polluting electricity generation resources located in the DACs in 
PCE’s service territory identified above. 
 
However, PCE has executed long-term power purchase agreements (PPAs) with two solar 
projects located in DACs in Merced County and in Kings County.  PCE’s purchase of solar 
energy generated from these two projects will deliver renewable power to PCE’s customers, 
improving air quality, providing economic benefits and creating hundreds of jobs to the region.   
 
Each of these projects has signed a project labor agreement (PLA) with local unions.  A PLA is 
a pre-hire collective bargaining agreement with one or more labor organizations that 
establishes the terms and conditions of employment for a specific construction project.  

Consistent with PCE’s Sustainable Workforce policy11, PCE believes support of local 
businesses, union labor and apprenticeship and pre-apprenticeship programs that create 
employment opportunities are important components of building and sustaining healthy and 
sustainable communities.  As part of its procurement process, PCE collects information from 
project owners on expected labor impacts.  This information is used to evaluate potential 
workforce impacts of proposed projects with the goal of promoting fair compensation, fair 
worker treatment, multi-trade collaboration, and support of the existing wage base in local 
communities where contracted projects will be located. 

 
 

                                                
11 https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-Policy-10-final-1.pdf  

Figure 7: Solar Project Locations and DACs 

Wright Solar  
Census Tract: 
6047002100 
Population: 3,862 
CES 3.0 % Range: 91 – 

 

Mustang 2 Solar  
Census Tract: 
6031001601 
Population: 4,526 
CES 3.0 % Range: 86 – 

 

https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-Policy-10-final-1.pdf


 

17 

Wright Solar is a 200 MW solar project currently under development in Merced County, less 
than 100 miles south of San Mateo County. Wright Solar is located in a disadvantaged 
community that ranks very highly on the CalEnviroScreen 3.0, falling within the 91 – 95% 
percentile of communities burdened by the highest pollution.  Please refer to Figure 7 for the 
location of the project and CalEnviroScreen 3.0 details.  This project will provide over 350 
regional union jobs in 2018 and 2019, or roughly 650 job-years. Once operating, the plant will 
produce power equivalent to that used by over 75,000 households.   
  
Mustang Two Solar is a 100 MW solar project under development in in Kings County, roughly 
200 miles outside San Mateo County. The facility is located in a disadvantaged community that 
ranks on the CalEnviroScreen 3.0 in the 86 – 90% percentile of communities burdened by the 
highest pollution.  Please refer to Figure 7 for the location of the project and CalEnviroScreen 
3.0 details.  Mustang Two Solar is expected to start construction in 2019 and create 450 jobs 
during peak construction. Roughly $3.1 million will be spent locally on materials and services. 
About $3.6 million in tax revenue will go to Kings County and $8.1 million in tax revenue will go 
to the state. 
 

3.2.1.5 LSE Activities & Programs Impacting DACs  
PCE’s ECOplus customers receive a 5% discount from PG&E’s electrical service rate, which is 
an immediate benefit provided to all residents who want to reduce their monthly electrical bill.  

This saves residential customers $2.28 on average per month.12   
 
PCE promotes programs and activities that contribute to economic development within 
disadvantaged communities while reducing greenhouse gas emissions by increasing local 
clean power production, encouraging adoption of electric vehicles, and encouraging energy 
efficiency. Table 7 provides an overview of the various programs PCE is currently launching to 
benefit customers located in DACs.   
 
In evaluating local programs impact on disadvantaged communities, PCE also looks at 
the impact on California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE) and Family Electric Rate 
Assistance (FERA) customers.  As of June 30, 2018, PCE has 29,373 CARE accounts 
and 1,126 FERA accounts.   
 

                                                
12 Based on a typical usage of 423 kWh/month.  For details on rates and savings calculation: 
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/residential/residential-rates/  

https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/residential/residential-rates/


 

18 

Table 7: Overview of PCE Programs Benefiting DACs 

Program Description Status 

Low-Income PHEV 
Purchase Program 

This program will offer point of sale 
rebates to low-income residents for 
purchase of used plug-in hybrid cars.  
Rebate amount is still to be determined 
and will be combined with low-income 
used car financing. This program also 
includes training on benefits of plug-in 
vehicles, understanding the fundamentals 
of the vehicle and how to benefit from 
them. Outreach to be supported by 
community groups working with low-
income residents.  As part of this PCE will 
hold a “ride and drive” event in close 
proximity to the largest DACs in PCE’s 
territory in East Palo Alto and Redwood 
City.   

Program approved 
by PCE’s board on 
April 18, 2018. 
Currently under 
development, 
expected launch for 
2018 Q4. 

Easy Charge 
Apartments 

Provides proactive education and free 
technical assistance to multi-unit dwelling 
(MUD) owners and managers to make it 
easy to become EV-ready for their 
tenants. This program offers free site 
electrical assessments, guidance on 
apartment policies and linkages to existing 
resources for EV charger installations 
such as the PG&E EV Charge Network 
program. PCE hopes to provide technical 
assistance to 10+ apartment complexes 
and foster installations using available 
programs. A special emphasis will be 
placed on engaging affordable housing 
providers. 

On July 10th, PCE 
hosted an 
informational 
workshop for 
apartment complex 
property owners 
and manager and 
27 people were in 
attendance.  
Multiple properties 
now in discussion 
for electric 
assessments and 
other assistance. 

Curbside Charging $1 million for a 3-year pilot program to 
identify and pilot unique technology and 
business model innovations required for 
expanded EV infrastructure within MUDs 
and for curbside charging. The strategy is 
intended to help address the lack of 
excess power in a large segment of the 
County’s MUD buildings (80% are over 50 
years old). 

Program approved 
by PCE’s Board on 
June 28, 2018. 
Project scoping 
complete. 
Consultant 
engagement 
expected Sept-Oct 
to initiate. 

School Bus 
Electrification in 
DACs 

Providing technical assistance to school 
districts in DACs to assist in preparing 
materials to apply for CEC electric bus 
grants (GFO 17-607).  

In process. 
Application due 
September 20, 
2018. 



 

19 

Program Description Status 

Community Pilots Call for Proposals to provide funding of up 
to $75,000 for pilot projects lasting up to 
18 months in duration that help PCE’s 
mission to reduce GHG emissions, deliver 
clean electricity at low cost and provide 
tangible benefits to the community.   

Launched on June 
21, 2018 with 
proposals due on 
August 3, 2018 and 
selection expected 
by the end of 
September 2018. 

Outreach Small 
Grants 

Small grant pilot program open to 
community based organizations to support 
collaborative outreach to vulnerable 
residents in San Mateo County. These 
grants were designed to specifically target 
the following audiences: 
• Low-income residents;  
• Seniors;  
• Customers eligible for Medical 

Baseline discounts;  
• Customers with low English language 

proficiency; and  
• Residents of northern San Mateo 

County focusing on San Bruno, South 
San Francisco, Pacifica, and Daly 
City.   

The grants helped PCE distribute its 
message in English, Spanish, Chinese, 
Tongan and Samoan. The goal of 
distributing these small grants is to gain 
further participation from the public and 
local organizations to collaborate with PCE 
on efforts to create a sustainable, cleaner 
environment for San Mateo County.  
 
 

Applications were 
received March 9th, 
2018 and five 
outreach grants 
were distributed. 
Grant period to end 
in October 15, 
2018. New grant will 
be announced Q4 
2018. 

Resilient Solar on 
Critical Facilities 

Joint project with East Bay Community 
Energy (EBCE) to complete a scoping 
study to identify municipal critical facilities 
and complete a preliminary assessment 
for solar plus storage resilience.   

Project expected to 
begin in 2018 Q4. 

 
 

3.1.2.6 Estimates of Annual Emissions of Nitrogen and Particulate Matter 
PCE does not own or sign contracts directly with specific power plants that emit nitrogen or 
particulate matter.  PCE’s goal is to be 100% GHG free by 2021 and 100% renewable by 
2025.  For these portfolios, PCE assumes no emissions of nitrogen or particulate matter.   
 
PCE estimates that for 2017, PCE’s portfolio was responsible for 566 tons of N2O emissions.  
In 2017, 15% of PCE’s generation was provided by system power and 6.6% was provided by 
biomass and biogas.  According to the California Air Resources Board (CARB), in 2016, the 



 

20 

electricity sector in California was responsible for 160,000 tons of N2O emissions.13  
According to the California Energy Commission (CEC), in 2016, total generation (including in-

state generation and imports) from nitrogen emitting fuels14 was 166,148 GWh.15  Based on 
this, we estimate that nitrogen emissions factor of 1.93 lbs / MWh of electricity generated from 
a nitrogen emitting fuel.  In 2017, PCE portfolio included 587,545 MWh of electricity generated 
from unspecified system power or biomass/biogas.  Using the nitrogen emissions factor of 
1.93 lbs / MWh, PCE estimates that its portfolio was responsible for 566 tons of nitrogen 
emissions in 2017.  For 2018, PCE forecasts similar levels of unspecified and system power 
and therefore, we expect a similar level of nitrogen emissions.   
 
PCE estimates that for 2017, PCE’s portfolio was responsible for 6 tons of PM2.5 emissions.  
In 2017, 15% of PCE’s generation was provided by system power and 6.6% was provided by 
biomass and biogas.  According to the California Air Resources Board (CARB), in 2012, the 

electricity sector in California was responsible for 2,121 tons of PM2.5 emissions.16  According 
to the California Energy Commission (CEC), in 2012, total generation (including in-state 

generation and imports) from PM2.5 emitting fuels17 was 209,339 GWh.18  Based on this, we 
estimate a PM2.5 emissions factor of 0.02 lbs / MWh of electricity generated from a PM2.5 
emitting fuel.  In 2017, PCE portfolio included 587,545 MWh of electricity generated from 
unspecified system power or biomass/biogas.  Using the PM2.5 emissions factor of 0.02 lbs / 
MWh, PCE estimates that its portfolio was responsible for 6 tons of PM2.5 emissions in 2017.  
For 2018, PCE forecasts similar levels of unspecified and system power and therefore, we 
expect a similar level of PM2.5 emissions.   
 

3.2.2 Cost and Rate Analysis 
 
PCE’s rates are set by its Board of Directors.  PCE has a goal to offer rates that are at parity or 
lower than PG&E rates.  Currently, PCE’s ECOplus rates are set at 5% below PG&E’s rates.  To 
meet this goal, PCE is taking a number of actions to procure the lowest cost portfolio and 
protect our customers from unexpected price increases.  
 

• Competitive procurement: PCE engages in competitive procurement processes to 
secure the lowest rates possible for our customers.   

• Financial reserves: PCE directs a certain % of its income to a reserve fund, which can 

help PCE manage risk and remain financially solvent.19   

• Credit rating: PCE is pursuing an investment grade credit rating.  However, PCE has 
demonstrated that it is creditworthy as we have successfully negotiated 300 MW of long-
term contracts for solar resources and we continue to have robust participation in our 
ongoing procurement activities.     

 

                                                
13 2016 is the most recent data available: 
https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/inventory/data/tables/ghg_inventory_sector_sum_2000-16n2o.pdf  
14 Coal, natural gas, oil, Other (petroleum coke, Waste heat), Biomass and unspecified.   

15 http://www.energy.ca.gov/almanac/electricity_data/system_power/2016_total_system_power.html  
16 2012 is the most recent data available: 
https://www.arb.ca.gov/app/emsinv/2017/emssumcat_query.php?F_YR=2012&F_DIV=-
4&F_SEASON=A&SP=SIP105ADJ&F_AREA=CA#stationary   
17 Coal, natural gas, oil, Other (petroleum coke, Waste heat), Biomass and unspecified.   
18 http://www.energy.ca.gov/almanac/electricity_data/system_power/2016_total_system_power.html  
19 Financial Reserves Policy: https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/PCE-Policy-18-
Reserves-Policy_Adopted-0628818.pdf  

https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/inventory/data/tables/ghg_inventory_sector_sum_2000-16n2o.pdf
http://www.energy.ca.gov/almanac/electricity_data/system_power/2016_total_system_power.html
https://www.arb.ca.gov/app/emsinv/2017/emssumcat_query.php?F_YR=2012&F_DIV=-4&F_SEASON=A&SP=SIP105ADJ&F_AREA=CA#stationary
https://www.arb.ca.gov/app/emsinv/2017/emssumcat_query.php?F_YR=2012&F_DIV=-4&F_SEASON=A&SP=SIP105ADJ&F_AREA=CA#stationary
http://www.energy.ca.gov/almanac/electricity_data/system_power/2016_total_system_power.html
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/PCE-Policy-18-Reserves-Policy_Adopted-0628818.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/PCE-Policy-18-Reserves-Policy_Adopted-0628818.pdf


 

21 

In light of these goals, PCE analyzed the anticipated cost of the Conforming Portfolio based on 
known contracted costs and forward price assumptions for open positions.  Numerous market 
factors could affect these assumptions.    

3.3 Deviations from Current Resource Plans 

This IRP does not deviate from PCE’s existing resource plans.  It is consistent with PCE’s 
Strategic IRP attached as Appendix A and RPS Plan.  However, there are several key 
differences in assumptions:  

• PCE’s Strategic IRP is based on PCE’s internal load forecast based on historical 

electricity usage.  In contrast, this IRP Is based on the CEC’s 2017 IEPR forecast.   

• As noted in more detail below and as directed by the CPUC staff, PCE did not include 
RA-only contracts in its New Resource Data Template.  As described above, the CEC 
IEPR forecast load shape shows a higher expected peak demand in summer and lower 
expected demand in winter months than PCE’s load forecast.  Using this load forecast to 
estimate PCE’s RA needs would not be accurate.  This load forecast would predict a 
higher RA need based on the higher summer peak loads.   

• PCE’s Strategic IRP is based on resource specific generation forecasts.  This is in 
contrast to the CPUC’s GHG Calculator which is based on generic profiles.   

• For 2018, PCE’s portfolio will include RPS PCC2 resources consistent with the Baseline 
Resource Data Template.  This differs from the CPUC GHG Calculator which does not 
allow PCC2 resources to be entered as GHG-free resources.   

3.4 Local Needs Analysis 

PCE will continue to fulfill all of its local Resource Adequacy (RA) obligations including any new 
requirements that result from the current RA proceeding (R.17-09-020).  In accordance with 
CPUC and CAISO requirements, PCE procures system, local and flexible RA on long-term, 
multi-year, year-ahead and month-ahead timeframes.  PCE evaluates all new long-term PPAs 
for their ability to contribute to PCE’s RA obligations.  

4. Action Plan  

4.1 Proposed Activities  

PCE’s procurement strategy is outlined in further detail in the Strategic IRP attached as 
Appendix A.  PCE manages its supply commitments with the objective of balancing cost stability 
and cost minimization, while leaving some flexibility to take advantage of market opportunities or 
technological improvements that may arise.  PCE strives to create a diverse and balanced 
portfolio and uses a portfolio risk management approach in its power purchasing program.  PCE 
may use a variety of methods to contract for power, including competitive solicitations and 
bilaterally negotiated agreements.  Occasionally, PCE will issue ad hoc competitive solicitations 
or engage in independent bilateral negotiations to meet specific resource needs.  Alternatively, 
particularly in markets with sufficient transparency to ensure competitive outcomes, PCE may 



 

22 

negotiate short-term transactions via its scheduling coordinator or independent energy brokers 
or marketers.  Such markets may include: 
 

i. System energy at defined CAISO trading hubs for defined (e.g. peak, off-peak, baseload, 
shaped, or custom) products; 

ii. Short-term RA capacity.   
 
In January 2018, PCE launched an RFO for renewable and storage resources.  PCE is currently 
in the process of negotiating contracts with short-listed bidders.  PCE anticipates completing 
negotiations by the end of the year.  PCE will then evaluate portfolio needs and decide when to 
procure additional resources.   

4.2 Barrier Analysis  

PCE identifies the following factors as potential procurement risks: 

• Market price (locational marginal prices, RA prices, RPS prices, project-specific power 

purchase agreement prices);  

• Congestion and congestion revenue rights process;  

• Counterparty credit;  

• Curtailment;  

• Generation forecasts for intermittent resources;  

• Load forecasts;  

• Customer participation / opt-up or opt-out rate;  

• Assignment of unplanned resources (CAM, RMR, CPM); and 

• Legislative and regulatory changes (i.e. RA, RPS, PCIA, PSD). 

4.3 Proposed Commission Direction 

This section is not applicable to PCE.  PCE’s Board of Director’s oversees and governs PCE’s 
planning and procurement activities.   

5. Data 

5.1 Baseline Resource Data Template 

PCE has completed the Baseline Resource Data Template.  PCE notes the following 
assumptions:  

• As noted in the Filing Requirements Reference Guide published on June 29, 2018 

(question 13), PCE has included projects for which we have a signed contract, but which 

are not yet constructed and operating. 

• PCE has included our best estimates for generation for project-specific contracts.  This 

may not match the GHG Calculator which is based on more generic resource portfolios.   



 

23 

• Treatment of non-resource-specific contracts – As noted in the Filing Requirement 

Reference Guide (question 14), for non-unit-specific contracts, PCE broke these out by 

Resource Type and month using the renewable generation shapes in the GHG 

Calculator to allocate annual contract quantities to specific months.   

5.2 New Resource Data Template 

PCE is submitting one New Resource Data Template for its Conforming portfolio.  PCE notes 
the following assumptions:  

• In accordance with guidance from CPUC staff at a meeting on 5/31/2018, PCE has not 
provided a list of estimated future RA-only contracts.  PCE will continue to fully comply 
with all RA requirements.   

5.3 Other Data Reporting Guidelines 

PCE has completed the CPUC’s GHG Calculator for IRP v1.4.5.  PCE notes the following 
assumptions:  

• To account for GHG-free power associated with large hydro energy contracts, with 
contract quantities in MWh, PCE used the CPUC’s GHG Calculator to back-calculate the 
implied capacities for the contracted MWh.   

6. Lessons Learned 

PCE appreciates the CPUC’s time and efforts in preparing for this first round of integrated 
resource planning.  We appreciate staff’s responsiveness to questions and efforts to address 
stakeholder concerns ahead of the filing deadline.  In an effort to make future processes 
simpler, more accurate and more transparent, PCE offers the following suggestions.   
 
Consider possibility of false precision in results.  The models used for the system-wide 
portions of the IRP process require inputs with very high temporal and resource granularity.  
However, the long-time horizon of this modeling exercise means that many of these inputs are 
based on hypothetical future procurement decisions that will not be made for years.  When 
these decisions are made, these decisions will be influenced by future market conditions, policy 
outcomes and other variables that we have little visibility into now, but which would be 
irresponsible to write off.  Thus, while it is possible to make hypothetical decisions now that 
provide highly granular inputs, doing so runs the risk of producing results that do not accurately 
reflect the level of uncertainty surrounding future procurement across the electricity sector.   
 
Study implications of applying system model to individual LSEs.  PCE noted above that 
load profile shape contained in the GHG Calculator differs significantly from PCE’s internal 
forecast, which was created based on historical load.  The load profile in the GHG calculator 
predicts much higher summer peaks for PCE than our historical load would suggest.  Resource 
adequacy requirements are assigned based on summer peak load.  This discrepancy between 
the GHG Calculator load profile and PCE’s internal forecast would result in predicting much 
higher resource adequacy commitments for PCE in this planning process than PCE is modeling 
and than would be expected using a more accurate load profile.   



 

24 

 
Improve harmonization between model input structure and actual contract structure.  
One of the challenges we faced was translating information from our contracts into the CPUC-
provided IRP templates and GHG calculator.  These documents seem to have been designed 
specifically for long-term PPAs with a single generation facility where the offtaker is buying both 
energy and capacity.  Contracts for energy may take several different forms; in addition to single 
resource PPAs, PCE has also entered contracts that are non-resource specific and 
denominated in MWh as well as resource-specific contracts denominated in MWh.  In this cycle, 
LSEs were instructed to do calculations and estimations to match the format required by these 
templates.  This can result in inaccuracies as different LSEs may have interpreted the directions 
differently.  In future IRP cycles, the process could be improved by modifying the templates to 
allow direct inputs under different contract structures.  This will allow the CPUC staff to collect 
more accurate industry information to inform planning processes.   
 
Allow for transition periods and ensure consistency in GHG accounting.  PCE supports 
the CPUC’s goal to evaluate GHG emissions on an hourly basis and in December 2017, PCE 
made a similar commitment in our Strategic IRP.  However, we believe it is important to make 
this transition in a way that acknowledges the structure of contracts that are already in place.  
The brief timeline between when the decision to move to a clean net short methodology in a 
ruling published on May 25, 2018 and the due date for this filing, has not provided LSEs with 
time to react to this decision.  PCE executed contracts over the last several years that extend 
several years in the future for PCC2 resources, which are not counted as GHG free in the 
CPUC GHG Calculator and/or that are non-resource specific and do not provide any 
mechanism to account for GHG emissions at the hourly level that the CPUC has proposed.  
Further, PCE encourages consistency between the CPUC, CEC and CARB in its treatment of 
renewables and calculation of GHG emissions.  We are concerned that a lack of consistency 
can create different emissions estimates for the same time period and create confusion for 
customers.   
 
Provide transparency in decision making.  PCE appreciates that a planning process of this 
scale is difficult to implement and difficult to predict the outcome of aggregating the LSEs’ plans 
in this first cycle.  In future iterations of the planning process and as the process becomes more 
routinized, PCE recommends an increased level of transparency about how the plans will be 
used and what metrics will be assessed to evaluate conformance.   
 
PCE was founded to create opportunities to decrease GHG emissions in San Mateo County and 
provide the residents and businesses in San Mateo County with the ability to choose cleaner 
energy sources.  In this sense, PCE supports the goal of electricity-sector wide decarbonization 
and the planning that goes into setting long-term goals.  To the extent that it does not harm our 
ability to serve and be accountable to our member communities, PCE is excited to participate in 
the planning process and to provide as much planning detail and information as possible.  PCE 
looks forward to assisting staff in the future with developing the next iteration of this planning 
process in a way that may address some of the suggestions we’ve identified above.   
 
 
 
  



 

25 

Appendix A: Peninsula Clean Energy’s Strategic IRP 

  



2018 Integrated Resource Plan 
Approved by Board
December 14, 2017

Peninsula Clean Energy is San Mateo County’s locally-
controlled electricity provider. We are reducing 

greenhouse gas emissions and offering customer choice 
at competitive rates.



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 
 
Contents 
I. Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................... 1 

II. Introduction ................................................................................................................................... 1 

III. Regulatory Mandates .................................................................................................................... 3 

Renewable Portfolio Standard................................................................................................. 4 

SB 350 ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

Resource Adequacy (RA) ......................................................................................................... 6 

Power Source Disclosure Program ......................................................................................... 7 

AB 1110 ..................................................................................................................................... 7 

AB 2514 ..................................................................................................................................... 7 

IV. PCE Procurement Goals and Policies ......................................................................................... 7 

GHG-Free by 2021 .................................................................................................................... 9 

100% Renewable by 2025 ...................................................................................................... 10 

No Use of Unbundled Renewable Energy Certificates ......................................................... 11 

V. Customers and Consumption Forecast .................................................................................... 11 

Enrolled Customers ................................................................................................................ 11 

PCE Rollout – Phases 1 and 2 ............................................................................................... 12 

Load Forecast ......................................................................................................................... 12 

Retail Products ....................................................................................................................... 12 

ECOplus ............................................................................................................................ 13 

ECO100 ............................................................................................................................. 13 

Power Content Label .............................................................................................................. 13 

VI. Current Procurement Status ...................................................................................................... 16 

Project-Specific Power Purchase Agreements .................................................................... 17 

Renewable Energy and GHG-Free Contracts ........................................................................ 18 

System Energy ........................................................................................................................ 19 

VII. Resource Needs .......................................................................................................................... 19 

Open Position ......................................................................................................................... 19 

Meeting and Exceeding California’s Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS)........................ 20 

VIII. Designing a Diverse and Balanced Portfolio ............................................................................. 22 

Additionality ............................................................................................................................ 22 



Term Length ........................................................................................................................... 23 

Project Size ............................................................................................................................. 24 

Ownership ............................................................................................................................... 25 

Resource and Technology Mix .............................................................................................. 25 

Location .................................................................................................................................. 26 

Procurement Methods ........................................................................................................... 26 

RA Purchases ................................................................................................................... 27 

IX. Developing Local Resources ...................................................................................................... 27 

Net Energy Metering (“NEM”) ................................................................................................ 27 

New Program Development .................................................................................................. 28 

Appendix A: Description of PCE’s Mid-2017 Resources .................................................................. 29 

Appendix B: List of Acronyms ............................................................................................................ 31 

 
 



List of Tables 
Table 1: RPS Renewable Procurement Targets ..................................................................................... 4 
Table 2: PCE Procurement Targets by Resource Type ......................................................................... 9 
Table 3: PCE Participation by Customer Type ..................................................................................... 11 
Table 4: Participation Rates by Product in 2017 .................................................................................. 12 
Table 5: Summary of PCE Executed Power Purchase Agreements (PPAs) .................................... 16 
Table 6: Summary of PCE Executed Energy Contracts ....................................................................... 17 
Table 7: PCE Open Position Guidelines ................................................................................................. 20 
Table 8: PCE Contract Term Length – Statutory Requirements ........................................................ 23 
Table 9: PCE Contract Term Length Guidelines ................................................................................... 24 
Table 10: PCE Project Size Guidelines .................................................................................................. 24 
Table 11: PCE Project Ownership Guidelines ....................................................................................... 25 
Table 12: PCE Resource and Technology Mix Guidelines .................................................................. 26 
Table 13: PCE's Project Location Guidelines ........................................................................................ 26 
Table 14: PCE's Executed Contracts and their Diversity Metrics ...................................................... 29 

 
 
List of Figures 
Figure 1: How Community Choice Energy Works .................................................................................. 2 
Figure 2: Regulatory Agencies and Roles ............................................................................................... 3 
Figure 3: PCE Strategic Goals ................................................................................................................... 8 
Figure 4: PCE's Typical Daily Load Profile, 2018 .................................................................................. 10 
Figure 5: PCE 2016 Power Content Label ............................................................................................. 14 
Figure 6:  PCE 2017 Projected ECOplus Resource Mix ....................................................................... 15 
Figure 7: PCE 2018 Expected ECOplus Resource Mix ........................................................................ 15 
Figure 8: PCE 2017 Projected and 2018 Expected ECO100 Resource Mix ...................................... 16 
Figure 9: Map of PCE's Project Locations............................................................................................. 18 
Figure 10 : PCE Energy Procurement and Open Position ................................................................... 19 
Figure 11: PCE Open Position Guidelines ............................................................................................. 20 
Figure 12: PCE Renewable and Non-renewable Energy Volumes, 2018-2027 ................................. 21 
Figure 13: RPS Energy Requirements and PCE Procurement Targets, 2018-2027 ......................... 21 
Figure 14: Contract Diversity Attributes ................................................................................................ 22 
Figure 15: PCE Percentage of Load by Project, 2021.......................................................................... 25 
 
 
 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 1 of 32 
 

I. Executive Summary 
 
The Peninsula Clean Energy (PCE) Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) provides guidance for serving 
the electric needs of the residents and businesses in San Mateo County while meeting PCE’s 
policy objectives and regulatory requirements over a 10-year planning period from 2018-2027.1  
PCE’s existing and planned supply commitments will enable PCE to fulfill regulatory mandates 
and voluntary procurement targets related to renewable, greenhouse gas-free (GHG-free) and 
conventional (non-renewable) energy.  
 
This IRP addresses how PCE will meet the following targets by managing a portfolio of energy 
and capacity resources to:  
 
 Meet California’s Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) requirements of 29% of retail 

electricity sales to come from renewable energy sources in 2018.  This percentage 
increases to 50% by 2030.   

 Provide the necessary capacity reserves to meet California’s Resource Adequacy (RA) 
regulatory requirements for load-serving entities.   

 Maintain a minimum renewable energy content of 50% for its ECOplus product, and 
100% for its ECO100 product, while working towards a goal of increasing PCE’s 
renewable content to 100% renewable energy for all PCE customers by 2025.   

 Meet its GHG-free target of 85% for 2018, and increase its GHG-free energy by 5% per 
year to 100% GHG-free in 2021.   

 
PCE has taken steps to ensure delivery of a reliable, environmentally responsible power supply 
by:  
 
 Contracting with Direct Energy (Energy America, LLC) and Constellation (Exelon 

Generation Company, LLC) to supply the majority of PCE’s energy needs on a short-to 
medium-term basis.   

 Contracting for significant volumes of bundled renewable energy through medium-and 
long-term project-specific power purchase agreements (PPAs).   

 Contracting to meet PCE’s RA obligations.   
 

II. Introduction 
 
Peninsula Clean Energy (PCE), a community choice energy (CCE) program, is San Mateo 
County’s official electricity provider.  Community choice energy programs (also known as 
community choice aggregators, or CCAs) are locally controlled organizations that enable 
residents and businesses a choice regarding the energy sources for their electricity.  PCE is a 
joint powers agency, formed in February 2016, consisting of the County of San Mateo and all 
twenty of its cities.  Following a comprehensive feasibility study, elected officials from each 
member jurisdiction unanimously agreed to form PCE to meet their local climate action goals 
and for the benefit of San Mateo County.   
 

                                                           
1 The California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) is in the process of developing the requirements for the IRP that 
will be submitted to them for certification.  This IRP is for PCE’s internal planning purposes and is not what will be 
submitted to the CPUC for certification.   



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 2 of 32 
 

PCE is the default electric generation provider for all the county’s residents and businesses, and 
for any new or relocated customers.  As demonstrated in Figure 1, PCE provides electricity to 
residents and businesses in San Mateo County, while PG&E continues to maintain the electrical 
wires and other infrastructure, and PG&E meters customers’ electricity usage and sends 
customers’ bills.  PCE’s customers receive one bill from PG&E which includes the charges from 
PCE as well as the charges for PG&E’s delivery costs as well as their natural gas usage.   
 

 
 

 
PCE began serving the first phase of customers in October 2016, which were all of the small 
and medium commercial customers and 20% of residential customers.  The second phase of 
customers were enrolled in April 2017, consisting of all other customers, including large 
commercial and industrial, agricultural, and the remaining residential customers.   
 
PCE provides cleaner and greener electricity, at lower rates than the incumbent investor-owned 
utility (IOU), Pacific Gas & Electric Company (PG&E).  PCE plans for and secures commitments 
from a diverse portfolio of energy generating resources to reliably serve the electric energy 
requirements of its customers over the near-, mid-, and long-term planning horizons.   
 
This IRP documents PCE’s current procurement status and outlines PCE’s resource planning 
policies and objectives over the ten-year planning timeframe.  Periodically, PCE staff will update 
the IRP and submit it to PCE’s Board for approval.  Such approval is made in consideration of 
applicable regulatory requirements, PCE policy objectives, energy market conditions, anticipated 
changes in electricity sales, ongoing procurement activities, and any other considerations that 
may affect how PCE carries out its resource planning.   
 
The IRP has four primary purposes: 
 

(1) Document current procurement status following our first year of operations;  
(2) Quantify resource needs over a ten-year planning period;  
(3) Articulate relevant energy procurement2 policies;  

                                                           
2 Within this IRP, energy procurement means purchases of energy products, including electricity, capacity, energy 
efficiency, distributed generation, demand response, and energy storage.   

PENINSULA CLEAN 
ENERGY 

Electric Generation 
Cleaner Energy at Lower 

 

PG&E 
Electric Delivery 
Same Reliable 

Service 

PG&E 
Meters & Sends Bill 
You still get one bill 

Figure 1: How Community Choice Energy Works 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 3 of 32 
 

(4) Communicate PCE’s resource planning policies, objectives and planning framework to 
the public and key stakeholder groups.   

 
In practical terms, the IRP specifies the energy procurement policies adopted by PCE’s Board 
and serves as a guideline to PCE staff regarding day-to-day energy planning and procurement 
activities.   
 

III. Regulatory Mandates  
 
CCEs are primarily regulated by their local governing authority.  In the case of PCE, this is the 
Board of Directors.  Each member jurisdiction from San Mateo County has one seat on the 
Peninsula Clean Energy Board of Directors (except for San Mateo County, which has two) for a 
total of 22 board members.   
 
Additionally, as a load serving entity3 (LSE) in California, PCE is required to meet certain 
regulatory requirements.  There are several regulatory bodies that provide oversight of LSEs as 
outlined in Figure 2 below.  The primary requirements are the renewable portfolio standard 
(RPS) and resource adequacy (RA), but PCE is also subject to requirements related to disclosing 
power sources, energy storage and contract term length among others.  In future versions of 
this IRP, PCE will add any new or changed regulatory requirements as appropriate.   
 
Figure 2: Regulatory Agencies and Roles 

 

California Air 
Resources Board 

(CARB) 

The California Air Resources Board (CARB) is 
charged with protecting the public from the 
harmful effects of air pollution and developing 
programs and actions to fight climate change.  
Reducing air pollution and protecting public 
health guide CARB’s actions.  CCEs are 
required to report retail sales to CARB as part 
of the Power Source Disclosure Reporting 
requirements.   
 

 

California Energy 
Commission (CEC) 

 
The CEC is the state's primary energy policy 
and planning agency.  It is committed to 
reducing energy costs and environmental 
impacts of energy use - such as greenhouse 
gas emissions - while ensuring a safe, resilient, 
and reliable supply of energy.  CCEs report to 
the CEC regarding RA, RPS compliance, and 
Power Source Disclosure Reporting.   
 

                                                           
3 Load Serving Entities (LSEs) are entities responsible for securing electric energy, transmission service and other 
related services to meet the electrical demand of its end-use customers.  LSEs include investor owned utilities (IOUs), 
publicly owned or municipally-owned utilities (POUs or MOUs), rural electric cooperatives, Native American utilities, 
community choice energy programs (CCEs), direct access provides (DA providers), and other electric service 
providers (ESPs).   



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 4 of 32 
 

 

California Independent 
System Operator 

(CAISO) 

 
CAISO is responsible for managing and 
operating the bulk of the wholesale electricity 
grid in CA.  The ISO grants equal access to 
transmission lines and coordinates competing 
and diverse energy resources into the grid 
where it is distributed to consumers.  It also 
operates a competitive wholesale power 
market designed to promote a broad range of 
resources at lower prices.  CCEs work with 
CAISO to report RA compliance, as well as to 
participate in the buying and selling of 
electricity in the CAISO market.   
 

 

California Public 
Utilities Commission 

(CPUC) 

 
The CPUC regulates privately owned electric, 
natural gas, telecommunications, water, and 
transportation companies.  The CPUC’s role in 
relation to CCEs is to assure that the CCE’s 
program elements are consistent with utility 
tariffs and with CPUC rules designed to protect 
consumers.  The CPUC certifies CCA 
implementation plans, but it does not have 
authority to approve or reject a CCA’s 
implementation plan, to decertify a CCA, or to 
regulate the CCA’s program except to the 
extent that its program elements may affect 
utility operations and the rates and services to 
other customers.  Although the CPUC’s 
regulatory jurisdiction over CCAs is more 
limited than over IOUs, CCAs still must comply 
with certain requirements including RA and the 
RPS.   

 

Renewable Portfolio Standard 
PCE’s current RPS requirements are mandated by Senate Bill 2 (1X) passed in 2011.  This bill 
mandated RPS procurement requirements within multi-year compliance periods.  For the current 
compliance period (2017-2020), PCE is required to procure renewables in the quantities 
identified in Table 1 below.   
 
Table 1: RPS Renewable Procurement Targets 

Year Procurement Requirement 
(% of retail sales) 

2017 27% 
2018 29% 
2019 31% 
2020 33% 

 
 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 5 of 32 
 

Further, this legislation established portfolio content categories (PCC) for RPS procurement.  
The PCCs (these are also sometimes referred to as buckets) are defined as follows:  
 

• PCC 1: Bundled electricity and renewable energy certificates (RECs)4 from a resource 
located within California or delivering directly to California without substituting electricity 
from another source;  

• PCC 2: Electricity and RECs that cannot be delivered to California without substituting 
electricity from another, non-renewable source;5 and  

• PCC 3: Unbundled RECs from RPS-eligible facilities that are sold separately from the 
power generated by the facility and therefore do not meet the conditions of category 1 or 
category 2.6   

 
The legislation set minimum and maximum limits on certain procurement that can be used for 
compliance with the RPS program.  During the current RPS Compliance Period, a minimum of 
75% of required RPS procurement must be sourced from PCC 1 resources and a maximum of 
10% can be sourced from PCC 3 resources.  The difference can be sourced from PCC 2.   
 

SB 350 
In October 2015, Senate Bill 350 (SB 350) was signed into law establishing new clean energy, 
clean air and greenhouse gas reduction goals for 2030 and beyond.  SB 350 established 
California’s 2030 GHG reduction target of 40% below 1990 levels.  To accomplish this, SB 350 
set ambitious targets for renewable energy and energy efficiency.  In particular, SB 350 
increases California’s RPS goal from 33% by 2020 to 50% by 2030.  The corresponding CPUC 
regulations require that transitions from the previous mandate will be implemented gradually 
with straight line increases during each year of the compliance regime.   
 
Additionally, SB 350 established the following requirements which specifically apply to CCEs.   
 

• CCEs must have at least 65% of their RPS procurement under contracts of 10 years or 
longer beginning in 2021; 

• CCEs may offer energy efficiency programs which will be eligible to count toward 
statewide energy efficiency targets;7 

• While maintaining independent governing authority, CCEs will submit IRPs to the CPUC 
for certification.  The California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) is in the process of 

                                                           
4 RECs, also known as renewable energy credits, green certificates, green tags, or tradable renewable certificates, 
represent the environmental attributes of the power produced from renewable energy projects and are sold 
separately from commodity electricity.  They are tradable certificates that represent proof that one megawatt-hour of 
electricity was produced by a renewable energy source and delivered into the electric grid and are used to track the 
characteristics of a renewable energy generating facility.   
5 This is due to the intermittency of renewable energy sources.  Various requirements are in place to assure that the 
substitution of non-renewable sources is relatively contemporaneous with the generation by the renewable source, 
and that the substitute electricity represents a purchase of new energy (it is “incremental” to the load-serving entity’s 
existing energy supply).   
6 If the RECs are unbundled and sold separately, then the purchaser of the RECs has bought the legal right to the 
renewable attributes they represent.  This means that the energy originally associated with the RECs can no longer be 
considered renewable or to originate from a renewable source.   
7 CCE programs are not required to provide energy efficiency programs under SB 350.  If a CCE program does not 
offer its own energy efficiency program, CCE customers continue to be eligible for energy efficiency programs 
offered by the local Investor Owned Utility (which is PG&E in the case of PCE).   



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 6 of 32 
 

developing the requirements for the IRP that will be submitted to them for certification.  
This IRP is for PCE’s internal planning purposes and is not what will be submitted to the 
CPUC for certification.     

Resource Adequacy (RA) 
LSEs including CCEs are required to comply with the CPUC RA program.  The purpose of the RA 
program is to:  
 

• Ensure the availability of sufficient generating capacity to maintain grid reliability;  
• Provide for “reserve” capacity to promote resource sufficiency during periods of extreme 

demand and infrastructure outages;  
• Incentivize the construction of new generation in areas that are resource constrained (to 

reduce reliability risks); and  
• Ensure the availability of “flexible” or “fast response” generators that will be needed to 

address resource intermittency (to promote grid reliability in a system that relies heavily 
on renewable generating resources).   

 
There are three types of RA products that PCE must procure to meet its compliance 
requirements.  The first two products are defined by locational characteristics and the third is 
defined by ability to quickly ramp up generation and respond to CAISO orders.   
 

• System RA (defined by location):   
• Sourced within the CAISO Balancing Area 
• Generators must be located in Northern California for CCEs operating within the 

PG&E footprint (a small amount can come from Southern California) 
• System requirements are determined based on each LSE’s CEC-adjusted peak 

load forecast plus a 15% planning reserve margin  
• Local RA (defined by location):   

• Local requirements are determined based on an annual CAISO study  
• Local RA procurement obligations require PCE to purchase a certain amount of 

RA capacity from generators located within the following regions 
• Greater Bay area 
• PG&E Other (consists of the Humboldt, North Coast/North Bay, Sierra, 

Stockton, Greater Fresno, and Kern regions) 
• Flexible RA (defined by generating characteristics):   

• Qualifying generating resources must be able to respond to CAISO dispatch 
instructions and manage variations in load/resource output 

• No location requirements 
• Flexible Requirements are based on an annual CAISO study  

 
RA from a particular resource will be characterized as either Local or System depending on 
location and either Flex or not Flex depending on its ability to respond to CAISO instructions.   
 
RA is not actual energy or even the right to purchase energy.  Instead, it is a mechanism to 
ensure that there is enough generation on the grid to ensure reliability.  All LSEs must procure 
RA based on the amount of load they serve.   
 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 7 of 32 
 

Power Source Disclosure Program 
The Power Source Disclosure Program requires retail suppliers of electricity (i.e., companies 
that sell electricity directly to end users) to provide consumers with periodic updates regarding 
the types of generating resources (and related fuel sources) that are used to produce the 
electricity that they use.  Information is communicated to such customers in the form of a 
power content label.  PCE as a Community Choice Aggregator must complete these reporting 
requirements for the power content label.   
 

AB 1110 
Assembly Bill 1110 (AB 1110) was signed into law on September 26, 2016 to inform consumers 
of the GHG emissions intensity of their electricity and improve the transparency of the Power 
Content Label.  As part of this bill, regulators will adopt a methodology for calculating GHG 
emissions intensities for electricity sources, calculate California’s overall GHG emissions 
intensity, and adopt guidelines for reporting GHG emissions intensities.   
 
PCE will apply pertinent emissions calculation methodologies, once finalized, when performing 
future emissions calculations related to its electric supply portfolio.   
 

AB 2514 
The California Energy Storage Bill, AB 2514, was signed into law in September 2010 and 
established energy storage targets for IOUs, CCEs, and other LSEs in September 2013. The 
applicable CPUC decision established an energy storage procurement target for CCEs and other 
LSEs equal to 1 percent of their forecasted 2020 peak load.  The decision requires that 
contracts be in place by 2020 and projects be installed by 2024.  Beginning on January 1, 2018, 
and every two years thereafter, LSEs must file an advice letter demonstrating progress toward 
meeting this target and a description of the methodologies for insuring projects are cost-
effective.   
 

IV. PCE Procurement Goals and Policies 
 
In addition to the regulatory mandates reviewed above, PCE has set its own set of goals and 
policies that go beyond the RPS requirements.  PCE policy is directed on an ongoing basis by 
PCE’s Board and guides development of this IRP and related procurement activities.  PCE’s 
strategic goals, shown in Figure 3, were adopted in October 2016 and address procurement 
principles and targets.   
  



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 8 of 32 
 

 
Figure 3: PCE Strategic Goals 

  
PCE Strategic Goals 

Adopted by PCE’s Board of Directors in October 2016 
Design a diverse power portfolio that is greenhouse gas free 

• 100% GHG free by 2021  
• 100% CA RPS-eligible renewable energy8 by 2025 
• Minimum of 20 MWs of new local power by 2025 

Continually strive to offer ECOplus at rates that are at parity or lower than PG&E rates 

Stimulate development of new renewable energy projects and clean-tech innovation in San 
Mateo County and California through PCE’s procurement activities 

Demonstrate quantifiable economic benefits to the County/region and place a priority on 
local hiring and workforce development practices and environmental justice 

Implement programs to further reduce greenhouse gas emissions by investing in programs 
such as local clean power production, electric vehicles, energy efficiency, and demand 
response, and partnering effectively with local business, schools, and nonprofit 
organizations 

Maximize and maintain customer participation in PCE 
• Provide a superior customer experience 
• Develop PCE brand awareness and loyalty throughout the County 
• Actively encourage voluntary participation in its ECO100 renewable energy product 
• Actively encourage participation in other programs PCE develops 
• Achieve recognition from the EPA’s Green Power Partnership for Green Power 

Communities for all cities with municipal accounts enrolled in ECO100 by 2018 

 Build a financially sustainable organization 
• Build sufficient reserves in a rate stabilization fund 
• Achieve an investment grade credit rating by 2021 

Foster a work environment that espouses sustainable business practices and cultivates a 
culture of innovation, diversity, transparency, integrity, and commitment to the 
organization’s mission and the communities it serves 

                                                           
8 California RPS-eligible resources are defined by the California Energy Commission and designated as “Eligible 
Renewable Resources” (ERR).  An ERR is a generating facility that meets all of the criteria set forth in Public Utilities 
Code Section 399.12, Public Resources Code Section 25741, and the California Energy Commission’s “Renewables 
Portfolio Standard (RPS) Eligibility Guidebook,” available at: http://www.energy.ca.gov/portfolio/index.html.   



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 9 of 32 
 

 
Further, PCE has developed the following three specific policies to guide power procurement:  
 

1. PCE shall not use unbundled renewable energy credits (RECs) for meeting its renewable 
energy goals.   

2. In sourcing electricity and resource adequacy, PCE will not procure electricity or 
resource adequacy from coal facilities.   

3. PCE has published a Sustainable Workforce Policy.  PCE desires to facilitate and 
accomplish all of the following objectives: (1) Support for and direct use of local 
businesses; (2) Support for and direct use of union members from multiple trades; (3) 
Support for and use of training and State of California approved apprenticeship 
programs, and pre-apprenticeship programs from within PCE’s service territory; and (4) 
Support for and direct use of green and sustainable businesses.  For specific details on 
this policy, please refer to https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-
content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-Policy-10-final-1.pdf.   

 
In meeting our renewable energy requirements, PCE’s initial goal is to have a mix of up to 25% of 
our renewable portfolio sourced from PCC2 and to fulfill the remaining renewable energy 
portion with PCC1.  This mix is required for the state’s RPS needs, and has been carried over to 
fulfill PCE’s renewable needs beyond the RPS requirements.  However, depending on availability 
and price, PCE may modify the 75%/25% split for renewable purchases to meet PCE’s renewable 
targets that exceed the RPS requirements.   
 
Table 2 below outlines PCE’s targets by resource type to meet these regulatory requirements 
and goals.9   
  
Table 2: PCE Procurement Targets by Resource Type 

10 Year 
Portfolio Mix 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 

PCC 1 
Renewables 

37.5% - 
42.5% 

37.5% - 
42.25% 

37.5% - 
41.25% 

37.5% - 
41.25% 

37.5% - 
41.0% 

37.5% -  
40.5% 

37.5% - 
40.0% 

75.0% - 
89.5% 

75.0% - 
89.0% 

75.0% - 
88.75% 

PCC 2 
Renewables 

7.25% - 
12.5% 

7.75% - 
12.5% 

8.25% - 
12.5% 

8.75% - 
12.5% 

9.0% - 
12.5% 

9.5% - 
12.5% 

10% - 
12.5% 

10.5% - 
25.0% 

11% - 
25.0% 

11.25% 
- 25.0% 

PCC 3 
Renewables 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

GHG-Free 
Energy 

35% 40% 45% 50% 50% 50% 50% 0% 0% 0% 

System Energy 15% 10% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 

GHG-Free by 2021 
Reducing electric utility-sector GHG emissions is one of PCE’s charter objectives.  PCE started 
with a 75% GHG-free supply portfolio in 2016 and increased to a target of 80% in 2017.  The 
total GHG-free energy supply will increase by 5% per year, with the goal of achieving a 100% 
GHG-free supply portfolio by 2021.  Early in the planning period, the GHG-free proportion of 
PCE’s resource mix will consist of both RPS-eligible renewable energy and additional GHG-free 
electricity, mostly sourced from large hydro facilities.  In subsequent years, PCE will increase its 
                                                           
9 Actual annual percentages may differ from projections if resource availability or market conditions preclude cost-
effective procurement.   

https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-Policy-10-final-1.pdf
https://www.peninsulacleanenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PCE-Policy-10-final-1.pdf


PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 10 of 32 
 

supply of renewable energy as we move toward our goal of a 100% renewable energy supply 
portfolio by 2025.   
 

100% Renewable by 2025 
PCE intends to replace the conventional and non-renewable GHG-free energy resources in its 
supply portfolio with renewable resources.  Actual annual renewable content percentages may 
differ from projections, if resource availability or market conditions preclude cost-effective 
procurement, but the primary goal is to achieve a 100% renewable supply no later than 2025.   
 
Further, in providing customers with 100% renewable energy, PCE intends to match its electricity 
supply portfolio to its customer electricity demand profile on a time coincident basis.  This 
means that for every hour of the year, we want the amount we are procuring from generators to 
be equal to the amount that our customers are consuming in that hour.   

Figure 4 below shows PCE’s average load profile and contracted supply by hour for 2018.  The 
blue line is the customer load or how much electricity we expect PCE’s customers to use in a 
particular hour and the bars represent the electricity that we have contracted for in that hour.  
To meet our goal in 2025, each of these bars would represent contracts for renewable energy 
and would reach up to the blue bar for every hour of the year.   
 

Figure 4: PCE's Typical Daily Load Profile, 2018 

 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 11 of 32 
 

 

No Use of Unbundled Renewable Energy Certificates 
The RPS allows load-serving entities to meet a portion of their RPS requirements with 
unbundled RECs.  These are otherwise known as PCC 3, or Bucket 3.  PCE has made a 
commitment not to procure unbundled RECs to meet either its RPS requirements or its 
additional requirements to provide customers with 50% or 100% renewable energy.  Members of 
PCE’s Board, Executive Committee, and Citizens Advisory Committee expressed concerns about 
how unbundled RECs have been used and misused to give the impression that polluters are 
more “green” and “clean” than they actually are.  Although each unbundled REC is created 
because 1 MWh of renewable energy has been generated to create that REC, the use of 
unbundled RECs has created confusion in the market.  There was general consensus that PCE 
should set an example in the industry and among CCEs to adopt a policy to not use Unbundled 
RECs.  To maintain progress toward its 100% renewable energy target, PCE is focused on 
procurement of bundled renewable energy supply throughout the planning period.   
 

V. Customers and Consumption Forecast 

Enrolled Customers 
PCE’s service territory covers the 20 cities located in San Mateo County plus the unincorporated 
areas of the county.  Within this service area, PCE serves approximately 300,000 customer 
accounts representing approximately 765,000 residents.  Table 3 shows the breakdown 
between commercial/industrial customers and residential customers in PCE’s service territory.  
Customers are automatically enrolled in PCE and have the option to opt-out of PCE and return to 
PG&E for electric service.  Customer participation rates are expressed as the proportion of 
customers currently served by PCE relative to the total number of electric customers in San 
Mateo County eligible for PCE service.10  The difference between such numbers reflects the 
subset of customers who have voluntarily opted out of the PCE program, retaining bundled 
service by PG&E.  As of publication, the customer participation rate associated with PCE’s 
membership is approximately 98% (i.e., the opt-out rate is approximately 2%).   
 
Table 3: PCE Participation by Customer Type 

  Total PCE Residential Commercial & Industrial 

Number of Customers 286,692 258,677 28,015 
90.2% 9.8% 

Total Retail Sales 
(kWh)11 2,332,308,507 803,274,560 1,529,033,946 

34.4% 65.6% 
 

                                                           
10 Direct Access customers are not automatically enrolled in a CCE program.   The Direct Access (DA) Program 
allows a limited selection of non-residential consumers in California to purchase their electricity from an ESP rather 
than from their IOU or default electricity supplier.   
11 Retail kilowatt-hour (kWh) sales in Table 3 do not represent a full calendar year of electricity sales.  Data shown 
covers sales from January 1, 2017 through November 22, 2017; retail service from January to March 2017 was for 
Phase 1 customers only; retail service for all customers was complete in May 2017.   



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 12 of 32 
 

PCE Rollout – Phases 1 and 2 
PCE rolled out its program in two phases –Phase 1 launched on October 1, 2016 and enrolled 
approximately one-third of the customer base, and Phase 2 launched on April 1, 2017 enrolling 
the remainder of the customer base.  In both phases, most customer opt-outs occurred within a 
120-day period beginning 60 days prior to each customer’s scheduled service commencement 
and continuing for 60 days thereafter.  This period of time is generally referred to as the 
“enrollment period”.  During PCE’s enrollment periods, prospective and enrolled customers 
received at least four mailed notices, which explained PCE’s service options and the opt-out 
process as well as other terms and conditions of service.   
 

Load Forecast  
PCE’s electricity load forecast is based on a historical count of customers by end-use 
classification (i.e. residential, commercial, industrial) and class-typical monthly energy 
consumption estimates, derived from historical data, to yield a monthly energy forecast by 
customer class.  Hourly class-specific load profiles are then used to break down the monthly 
energy forecast into more granular time-of-use and peak demand values to create a forecast of 
the amount of electricity consumed by PCE customers for every hour of the year.   
 
PCE’s long term load forecast is primarily influenced by the number of customers that PCE 
serves, as well as customer end-use classifications, energy usage, and expected customer 
participation rates.  Typical variables that drive the load forecast are weather, economic cycles, 
population growth, and changes in customer consumption patterns such as increased use of 
electric vehicles.   
 
PCE’s load in 2016 was 277 gigawatt hours (GWh)12 and in 2017, we are projecting 3,026 GWh.  
The projected load for 2018 and going forward is approximately 3,700 GWh.  PCE’s 2016 load 
represented only the first phase of enrollments for 25% of the year.  For 2017, PCE did not start 
serving our full retail load until April resulting in forecasted load that is slightly lower than when 
PCE is serving its full load for the entire year, which will occur in 2018.   
 

Retail Products 
PCE customers can choose between two different product options, ECOplus and ECO100.  Each 
product has a different amount of energy from renewable sources such as solar and wind.  
Table 4 summarizes customer participation in each product as of mid-2017.   
 
Table 4: Participation Rates by Product in 2017 
  Total PCE ECOplus Eco100 

Number of Customers 286,692 281,916 4,776 
98.3% 1.7% 

Total Retail Sales (kWh)13 2,332,308,506 2,272,145,380 60,163,126 
97.4% 2.6% 

                                                           
12 1 gigawatt hour (GWh) = 1000 megawatt hours (MWh) = 1,000,000 kilowatt hours (kWh) 
13 Retail kilowatt-hour (kWh) sales in Table 4 do not represent a full calendar year of electricity sales.  Data shown 
covers sales from January 1, 2017 through November 22, 2017; retail service from January to March 2017 was for 
Phase 1 customers only; retail service for all customers was complete in May 2017.   



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 13 of 32 
 

 

ECOplus  
ECOplus is PCE’s default electric option, in which new customers are automatically enrolled.   
ECOplus rates are set at 5% below PG&E’s generation rates.  Fifty 
percent of the electricity comes from renewable sources and this 
product will be 85% GHG-free in 2018.  Renewable sources may 
include such sources as wind, solar, and small hydro.  GHG-free 
includes both renewable sources and sources that do not count for 
the RPS and do not emit GHG emissions.  This is generally 
comprised of large hydro.   
 

ECO100  
Customers can choose to “opt up” to ECO100 and receive 100% of their electricity from 
renewable energy resources and is 100% GHG-Free.  ECO100 costs $0.01 per kWh more than 
ECOplus.   
 
Customer participation in ECO100 directly impacts the quantity of incremental renewable 

energy volumes that PCE must procure to ensure that its 
broader supply portfolio includes sufficient renewable energy 
volume to support both ECOplus and ECO100 participation.  As 
of mid-2017, over 4,000 accounts opted-up to ECO100.  As part 
of their emission reduction targets and sustainability goals, 14 

cities and the County enrolled all of their accounts in ECO100 in 2017.   
 
Starting in January 2018, the ECO100 product will be certified by the Center for Resource 
Solutions’ (CRS) Green-e certification program.  For 20 years, CRS has developed and 
implemented consumer-protection standards for the voluntary renewable energy and carbon 
offset markets through the Green-e programs.  These standards mandate a rigorous 
accountability for retail products sold to consumers, bringing a level of transparency that can 
bolster consumer confidence in the industry.  Green-e Energy is North America’s leading 
voluntary certification program for renewable energy.  Since 1997, Green-e Energy has certified 
renewable energy that meets environmental and consumer protection standards developed in 
conjunction with leading environmental, energy, and policy organizations.  Green-e Energy 
requires that sellers of certified renewable energy disclose clear and useful information to 
potential customers, allowing consumers to make informed choices.   
 

Power Content Label 
PCE’s Power Content Label (PCL) is a key customer communication tool that provides 
information regarding PCE’s actual mix of various energy sources during the previous year of 
operation.  This is a requirement of the Power Source Disclosure program discussed in Section 
III.  The 2016 PCL (Figure 5) quantifies PCE’s aggregate renewable energy supply during the 
three months that PCE provided service, during PCE’s initial rollout.  Projections for calendar 
years 2017 and 2018 for ECOplus and ECO100 are illustrated in Figures 6, 7, and 8 below.  The 
Product Content Label is not necessarily representative of the expected resource mix beyond 
2016 and 2017, as PCE will be building its portfolio going forward and relying less on the power 
mix provided by its early contracts with Direct Energy and Constellation.   



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 14 of 32 
 

Figure 5: PCE 2016 Power Content Label 

 
 
 
  



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 15 of 32 
 

Figure 6:  PCE 2017 Projected ECOplus Resource Mix14 

 
 

Figure 7: PCE 2018 Expected ECOplus Resource Mix 

 
 

                                                           
14 Unspecified power refers to energy bought through the CAISO market, but not traceable to a specific source.  Due 
to the energy mix in CA, this is primarily energy generated from the combustion of natural gas.  PCE has received a 
small amount of power from biomass generation due to non-project specific contracts to procure RPS eligible 
renewable energy.  PCE has not contracted specifically for energy generation from biomass sources.   

Small
Hydro
11%

Wind 30%Large Hydro 30%

Unspecified
Power …

OVERALL:
80% GHG-Free Energy

OVERALL:
20% Non GHG-Free Energy

ECOplus 2017
Projected

Unspecified 
Power 15%

Large Hydro 35%

Wind 25%

Biogas 10%

OVERALL: 
85% GHG-Free Energy

OVERALL: 
15% Non GHG-Free Energy

ECOplus 2018
Expected



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 16 of 32 
 

Figure 8: PCE 2017 Projected and 2018 Expected ECO100 Resource Mix 

 
VI. Current Procurement Status 

 
Since PCE began procuring energy in mid-2016, we have executed 18 contracts for a variety of 
energy products to meet PCE’s needs throughout 2017 and going forward.  PCE’s contract 
portfolio includes a variety of suppliers, term lengths, product types, quantities, generation 
technologies and resource locations among other considerations.  This emphasis on building a 
diversified portfolio of power supply sources will continue to be a cornerstone of PCE’s 
procurement strategy.   
 
These contracts are summarized in Table 5 and Table 6 below and in Appendix A: Description of 
PCE’s Mid-2017 Resources.  PCE is 100% contracted for 2017 and 87% contracted through 
2018, with generally increasing open positions in later years, which will be filled gradually 
according to the policies and goals outlined in this plan.   
 
Table 5: Summary of PCE Executed Power Purchase Agreements (PPAs)  

Project Counterparty Technology Capacity 
(MW) Term Term Length 

(Months) Location 

BUNDLED RENEWABLE PPAs      

Wright Frontier Solar 200 11/19-11/44 300 Merced County, CA 
Mustang Two Recurrent Energy Solar 100 12/19-12/34 180 Kings County, CA 

Hatchet Hydrodynamics Hydro 7.5 3/17-3/22 60 Shasta County, CA 
Buena Vista Leeward Wind 38 4/17-4/22 60 Contra Costa County, CA 

Shiloh Avangrid Wind 150 1/19-12/23 60 Solano County, CA 
Karen Avenue EDCC Wind 11.7 7/17-6/20 36 Riverside County, CA 
Roaring Creek Hydrodynamics Hydro 2 3/17-3/19 24 Shasta County, CA 

Bidwell Hydrodynamics Hydro 2 3/17-3/19 24 Shasta County, CA 
Cuyama First Solar Solar 40 1/18-12/18 12 Sant Barbara County, CA 

Wind 
100%

OVERALL:
100% GHG-Free Energy

ECO100 2017
Projected

Solar
50%

Wind 
50%

OVERALL:
100% GHG-Free Energy

ECO100 2018
Expected



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 17 of 32 
 

Table 6: Summary of PCE Executed Energy Contracts 

Counterparty    Term Term Length 
   (Months) 

BUNDLED RENEWABLE    
Direct Energy 10/16-12/26 120 
Constellation 4/17-12/18 21 

Powerex 6/17-12/18 19 
PG&E 5/17-12/17 8 

CARBON FREE     
Direct Energy 10/16-12/20 51 

Powerex 7/17-6/18 12 
Morgan Stanley 4/17-5/18 8.5 

UNSPECIFIED / SYSTEM     
Direct Energy 10/16-12/20 51 
Constellation 4/17-12/18 21 

 
To serve customer needs during the initial rollout periods, PCE signed a full-service contract 
with Direct Energy to provide the renewable energy, GHG-free energy and unspecified system 
power as well as capacity (resource adequacy) to meet PCE’s needs during the initial rollout 
period.  This structure was instrumental in minimizing administrative and operational 
complexities at the time of PCE’s Phase 1 launch in October 2016.  PCE also signed a very small 
10-year contract with Direct Energy in 2016 to meet a regulatory requirement for long-term 
contracts based on PCE’s initial Phase 1 load.   
 
For PCE’s Phase 2 expansion in April 2017, PCE signed a series of contracts to provide 
resources to PCE’s expanded customer base.  These included a contract with Constellation 
Energy to provide a hedge for PCE’s system power, as well as contracts for GHG-free energy 
and renewable energy purchases.   
 
As part of the Phase 2 expansion, PCE signed contracts to purchase all or a portion of the 
generation from a specific energy project in the form of a power purchase agreement (PPA).  
PCE also purchases renewable and GHG-free energy to meet state RPS requirements as well as 
internal renewable and GHG-free targets.  To the extent that PCE’s energy needs are not fulfilled 
through the use of renewable energy or other GHG-free generating resources, it should be 
assumed that such supply will be sourced from system energy (consisting primarily of natural 
gas generating technologies) – i.e., “generic” energy purchases from the wholesale market that 
are not directly associated with specific generators.   
 

Project-Specific Power Purchase Agreements 
In October 2016, PCE launched a Renewables Request for Proposals (RFP) and received 
numerous, competitive offers from developers.  The early contracts signed from this RFP 
emphasized near-term deliveries and relatively short tenors, primarily from existing resources.  
In addition, PCE has signed two long-term, renewable PPAs from this solicitation.  In general, 
these resources will begin deliveries in the 2019-2021 timeframe and will continue delivering to 
PCE for 15 to 25 years.   
 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 18 of 32 
 

Since inception, PCE has executed nine project-specific PPAs with RPS eligible generating 
sources including the following  

 
• 3 small hydroelectric projects;  
• 3 utility scale solar projects; and  
• 3 wind energy projects.   

 
We are currently receiving power from the three hydro projects and two of the wind projects.  
The pushpins in Figure 9 identify the locations of these nine projects throughout California.   
 

Figure 9: Map of PCE's Project Locations 

 
 

Renewable Energy and GHG-Free Contracts 
PCE has executed three contracts to provide PCC1 renewable energy to help PCE meet its RPS 
and voluntary renewable energy obligations in 2017 and 2018 and three GHG-free contracts to 
help PCE meet its GHG-free goals for 2017 and 2018.  PCE has a sufficient supply of RPS-
eligible renewable resources in excess of the 27% RPS requirement in 2017 and the 29% 
requirement in 2018.  Further, PCE has procured enough renewable energy to meet its 50% 
voluntary target during the 2017 calendar year.   
 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 19 of 32 
 

System Energy 
After accounting for renewable and GHG-free energy, the remaining energy supply is comprised 
of unspecified system energy purchases.  This refers to energy bought through the CAISO 
market, but not traceable to a specific source.  Within California, conventional generation 
generally refers to power sources that rely on the combustion of natural gas.15  In the Direct 
Energy and Constellation contracts, PCE uses fixed prices for system energy to hedge residual 
market price exposure in its supply portfolio.  Any remaining energy balancing will be conducted 
through the CAISO market via purchases and sales during the operating horizon.   
 
 

VII. Resource Needs 
 
Beyond its current contractual commitments, PCE will procure additional energy products to 
ensure that the future energy needs of its customers are met in a reliable, cost-effective 
manner.  This section sets forth PCE’s planned resource volumes and quantifies the net 
resource need or “open position” that remains after accounting for energy from PCE’s existing 
resource portfolio.  Figure 10 below shows PCE’s procurement to date and open position.   
 
Figure 10 : PCE Energy Procurement and Open Position 

 
 

Open Position 
PCE manages its supply commitments with the objective of balancing cost stability and cost 
minimization, while leaving some flexibility to take advantage of market opportunities or 

                                                           
15 PCE policy prohibits unit-specific purchases from coal facilities for energy or resource adequacy.  

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

 3,500

 4,000

 4,500

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

G
W

h

PCE Energy Procurement by Resource Type

Unspecified Power GHG-Free Energy (Non-RPS Eligible)

REC-PCC2 REC-PCC1

Small Hydro Wind

Solar PV PCE Load



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 20 of 32 
 

technological improvements that may arise.  PCE monitors its open position separately for each 
RPS category, GHG-free resources, conventional resources, and on a total portfolio basis.  PCE 
is targeting the guidelines in Table 7 and Figure 11 below to manage its open position.  This will 
also allow us to maintain a regular procurement cycle as short and mid-term contracts end.   

Table 7: PCE Open Position Guidelines 
 Percentage of Load Procured 
 Min Max 

Current Year 90% 100% 

Year 2 75% 90% 

Year 3 65% 80% 

Year 4  55% 70% 

  
 
Figure 11: PCE Open Position Guidelines 

 
 

Meeting and Exceeding California’s Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) 
PCE meets its renewable energy requirements with a combination of RPS-eligible energy 
products.  As Figure 12 illustrates, the proportion of PCE’s resource mix that is sourced from 
bundled renewable energy products will significantly increase as PCE transitions toward 100% 
renewable energy content in 2025.   
  
 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Current Year Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 and
Beyond

Minimum Percentage of Load Procured

Maximum Percentage of Load Procured



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 21 of 32 
 

Figure 12: PCE Renewable and Non-renewable Energy Volumes, 2018-2027 

 
 
Based on targeted renewable energy percentages, PCE intends to significantly outpace 
California’s annual RPS procurement mandates throughout the planning period.  Figure 13 
illustrates how PCE’s procurement targets for renewable energy compare to California’s RPS 
requirements, and demonstrate how PCE is procuring significantly more than required by the 
RPS, and greatly exceeding the state’s goals.  
 
Figure 13: RPS Energy Requirements and PCE Procurement Targets, 2018-2027 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

G
W

H

Other GHG-Free Energy Bundled Renewable Energy Unspecified Power

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Annual Targets

RPS Energy Requirements and PCE Procurements 

State RPS Requirements PCE Renewable Energy Mix



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 22 of 32 
 

VIII. Designing a Diverse and Balanced Portfolio 
 
PCE’s goal is to fulfill its open position with a diverse set of contracts.  PCE uses a portfolio risk 
management approach in its power purchasing program, seeking low cost supply as well as 
diversity among technologies, production profiles, project sizes, project locations, 
counterparties, term lengths and timing of market purchases to cost average over time, 
including remaining cognizant of the value of open market positions.  These factors are taken 
into consideration when PCE engages the market and PCE has developed specific guidelines for 
each of these diversification factors.  Figure 14 identifies the attributes PCE strives to balance 
in terms of diversity of its power supply.  In 2018 and beyond, PCE will strive to procure 
resources to meet the guidelines outlined in this section.  Actual procurement may differ from 
these guidelines, if resource availability or market conditions preclude cost-effective 
procurement.  As this document is updated and as the market changes, these guidelines may 
also be updated.  The primary goal is to strive to achieve a diverse portfolio that will allow us to 
achieve our renewable goals while managing risk.   
 
The guidelines outlined in this section are important to help PCE meet its goals and to provide a 
well-balanced portfolio.  PCE is focused on providing a green product to customers at rates that 
are at parity or lower than PG&E’s.  To stay competitive and create a sustainable business, PCE 
is very focused on meeting the guidelines at competitive prices and will carefully evaluate any 
procurement decisions to ensure PCE can maintain its low rates to customers.   
 
 
Figure 14: Contract Diversity Attributes 

 

Additionality 
Additionality means that a project or activity would not have happened without the buyer.  PCE 
is setting a guideline that we target a minimum 50% of the portfolio be procured from new 
projects by 2025.  New means projects that PCE causes to be built or repowered.  Repowered 
projects are typically wind energy projects where older turbines are replaced by new state-of-

Term Length

Ownership

Location

Technology

Size

Additionality



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 23 of 32 
 

the-art turbines.  For a repowered facility to count towards the definition of “additionality”, it 
would require a significant investment for the repowering of the facility.   
 

Term Length 
PCE intends to fulfill the renewable portion of the portfolio with a combination of short, mid-
term and longer-term contracts, which provides cost stability for the supply portfolio.   
 
In order to effectively plan and manage its portfolio, PCE differentiates contracts by their term 
length as follows: 
 

• Short-term:  up to twelve months;  
• Medium-term:  longer than twelve months, up to five years; 
• Intermediate-term:  longer than five years, up to ten years;  
• Long-term:  longer than ten years.   

 
As discussed above, SB 350 requires that PCE procure 65% of its RPS requirement from long-
term contracts starting in 2021.  Table 8 below identifies PCE’s RPS requirement during this 
compliance timeline and the minimum long-term contract requirement according to SB 350.   
 
 
 
Table 8: PCE Contract Term Length – Statutory Requirements 

 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 
RPS Requirement 35% 36% 38% 40% 42% 43% 45% 

Long Term Required per 
SB350 (%)16 

23% 24% 25% 26% 27% 
28% 29% 

Retail Sales (GWh) 3,768  3,787  3,806  3,825  3,844  3,863 3,882 
Long Term Required 

(GWh)17 
850  896  942  989  1,037  1,085 1,133 

 
PCE is setting a guideline to go beyond this minimum requirement and procure at least 50% of 
our portfolio from long-term contracts.  This will help to meet our additionality guideline above 
as most new projects require long-term contracts to secure financing.  The remainder of our 
portfolio will be comprised of contracts with short, medium and intermediate term lengths.  
Table 9 identifies guidelines around the percentage of the PCE portfolio from contracts in each 
term length category by year.   
  

                                                           
16 This is calculated as 65% of our RPS requirement (a statutory requirement) as identified in the row above.   
17 This is the GWh equivalent to 65% of our RPS requirement identified in the rows above.   



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 24 of 32 
 

Table 9: PCE Contract Term Length Guidelines 
 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 

Long Term Req’d per SB350 (%) 23% 24% 25% 26% 27% 28% 29% 
Long Term Additional 27% 26% 25% 24% 23% 22% 21% 

Total Long Term (>10 years) 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 
Short (<1 year) 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 

Medium (1-5 years) 17.5% 17.5% 17.5% 17.5% 17.5% 17.5% 17.5% 
Intermediate (6-10 years) 17.5% 17.5% 17.5% 17.5% 17.5% 17.5% 17.5% 

 
PCE is targeting 15% of its procurement in short-term contracting to allow us to react to 
changes in the market price of power and provide flexibility with PCE’s load.18  This also allows 
PCE to respond to disruptive technologies that might change the energy industry landscape. 
 

Project Size 
In building a diverse portfolio, PCE is focused on contracting with projects of varying sizes.  We 
have also set a guideline to target that no one project make up more than 15% of our portfolio 
by GWh production at the time of contract execution as identified in Table 10 below.  For 
reference, Figure 15 shows the percentage of our load by project in 2021.  Our largest project, 
Wright is equal to 14% of our load.   
 
Table 10: PCE Project Size Guidelines 

Guideline 

Pursue diversity of project sizes 

No one project output makes up more than 15% of GWh load 

 
 

                                                           
18 The recent fires in northern California resulted in Sonoma Clean Power losing close to 5% of its customer base.  
Although PCE hopes that a natural disaster does not occur here, keeping a portion of PCE’s portfolio extremely 
flexible mitigates this risk. 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 25 of 32 
 

Figure 15: PCE Percentage of Load by Project, 2021 

 
 

Ownership 
Diversity in ownership limits PCE’s exposure to any one company and the risk of that company 
going bankrupt or otherwise going out of business.  PCE also wants to ensure that the counter-
parties we work with have sufficient experience to develop or operate the project.  As indicated 
in Table 11 below, PCE is targeting that no more than 15% of our load is contracted with any one 
owner at the time of contract execution and that the counterparties PCE works with have 
experience developing and operating projects of similar type and size.   
 
Table 11: PCE Project Ownership Guidelines 

Guideline 

No more than 15% of GWh load from any one owner 

Experience developing & operating similar size projects 

Financing plan and successful track record with finance organizations 

Project owner is not an organization that opposes CCAs 

Financially stable organization 

 

Resource and Technology Mix 
PCE has no explicit preference for specific renewable energy technologies.  However, PCE is 
targeting a diverse set of technologies in our portfolio as shown in Table 12 below.  This will 
limit our exposure to any one manufacturer and will help to meet our goal of matching our 
supply portfolio to our load profile.  To support this, PCE is targeting to procure no more than 
20-25% of our load from any one manufacturer.  This will help mitigate risk that one 
manufacturer has a problem with their solar modules or wind turbines, or goes out of business.   

7.33%

7.61%

14%

0.42%
70.6%

Shiloh (Wind)

Mustang Two
(Solar)

Wright (Solar)

Hatchet (Small
Hydro)

Open



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 26 of 32 
 

Table 12: PCE Resource and Technology Mix Guidelines 

Guideline 

Procure from diverse set of technologies to match supply to load 

No more than 20-25% of load from any one manufacturer 
 

Location 
PCE considers a number of factors to manage risk with regard to a project’s location.  First, PCE 
considers the cost to transmit the energy from the project location to the PCE service territory.  
This transmission cost evaluation, which uses historical prices of energy as well as future price 
projections, is known as congestion analysis.   
 
We also want to identify projects that help to meet our goal of 100% renewable energy by 2025 
and to match our generation portfolio to our load on a time coincident basis.  For some 
renewable energy resources, the type of resource and location can affect the projected 
generation profile.  We will evaluate this generation profile alongside our other guidelines to 
determine whether a project could help to fill a hole in our generation profile.   
 
In consideration of these goals, PCE is setting the guidelines identified in Table 13 with regard 
to project location.   
 
 
 
Table 13: PCE's Project Location Guidelines 

Guideline 

Prioritize projects / locations to minimize congestion pricing 

No more than 15% of load from one LMP19 / interconnection point 

Supports PCE’s Sustainable Workforce Policy  

Evaluate environmental impacts 

Prioritize projects that help to match supply to load 

 

Procurement Methods 
PCE may use a variety of methods to contract for power, including competitive solicitations and 
bilaterally negotiated agreements.  Through a competitive solicitation, PCE issues an RFP and 
evaluates multiple proposals in the context of market conditions before entering negotiations 
with those respondents that provide the most compelling offers.  Occasionally, PCE will issue 
ad hoc competitive solicitations or engage in independent bilateral negotiations to meet 
specific resource needs.  Alternatively, particularly in markets with sufficient transparency to 

                                                           
19 LMP refers to “Locational Marginal Price”, a term used by the California Independent System Operator (CAISO) to 
price electricity deliveries into the California grid based on the location of that project. 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 27 of 32 
 

ensure competitive outcomes, PCE may negotiate short-term transactions via its scheduling 
coordinator or independent energy brokers or marketers.  Such markets may include: 
 

i. System energy at defined CAISO trading hubs for defined (e.g. peak, off-peak, baseload, 
shaped, or custom) products; 

ii. Short-term RA capacity.   
 

RA Purchases 
PCE primarily procures RA in two ways:  

• Bilateral contracts with counterparties, after sending out a request for competitive 
proposals to companies that may have RA products to offer.   

• PCE receives the resource adequacy value/benefit from several of its renewable energy 
contracts.  For example, PCE receives a small amount of RA from the Karen Avenue 
Wind and the Buena Vista Wind projects.   

 
IX. Developing Local Resources 

 
The PCE Board has set a target to develop 20 MW of new power projects in San Mateo County 
by 2025.  PCE has an ongoing net energy metering program, as described below.  Additionally, 
PCE staff is currently working to establish criteria and specific program parameters to guide 
further local development.   
 

Net Energy Metering (“NEM”) 
PCE solar customers can enroll in the Net Energy Metering (NEM) program.  NEM is a special 
billing arrangement that allows customers with solar PV systems to get the full retail value of 
the electricity their system generates.  A special meter tracks the difference between the 
amount of electricity a customer’s solar panels produce and the amount of electricity the 
customer uses during each billing cycle.  When the panels produce more electricity than is being 
used, customers receive a credit on their bill.   
 
In PCE’s NEM program (as contrasted with PG&E’s NEM program): 
 

• Energy consumption is reconciled monthly vs. annually; 
• Surplus electricity produced monthly is credited at $0.01/kWh above the retail value 

(equivalent to the ECO100 generation rate); 
• Excess generation credits are never discounted; customers are always compensated at 

the full retail generation rate; 
• Credits roll over each month helping to offset any generation charges throughout the 

year; and 
• PCE issues customers a check yearly after the April billing cycle for any unused credits 

over $100 (if less than $100, credits roll over).   
 

PCE currently has approximately 11,000 customer accounts representing 70 MW enrolled in its 
NEM program.  PCE is dedicated to encouraging customers to generate their own renewable 
energy via rooftop solar. Through its NEM program, PCE offers a compelling incentive to 
promote customer-sited distributed generation within its service area. From PCE’s launch 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 28 of 32 
 

through June 2017, for example, PCE NEM customers were offered over $300,000 in NEM 
credits. 
 

New Program Development 
During the next several years, PCE plans to evaluate and develop local renewable energy 
projects and complementary programs to serve PCE’s customers.  PCE is following a structured 
approach to identify worthy projects to pursue, including weighing them against a standard set 
of criteria.  Selection criteria may include: 
 

1. Projected GHG emissions reductions 
2. Cost effectiveness  
3. Number of customers served 
4. Geographic diversity in San Mateo County communities served 
5. Supports PCE’s workforce policy  
6. Helps PCE match supply to load 
7. Implementation cost to PCE (staff and $) 
8. Contributes toward procurements goals of:  

a. Creating 20 MW of new local power by 2025 
b. 100% GHG-free power for 2021 
c. 100% renewable energy by 2025 

9. Benefits disadvantaged communities 
10. Innovative, scalable, and replicable 
11. Supports community resilience 
12. Fills a gap in current utility offerings 

 
PCE will be evaluating local programs during FY17-18 and possibly launching some pilot 
programs during that time.  Full rollout of programs will occur in future years.  Possible 
programs might include energy storage, electric vehicle programs, or demand response.  
Currently the San Mateo County Office of Sustainability administers some energy efficiency 
programs in PCE territory.  PCE plans to work closely with the Office of Sustainability before 
considering any additional energy efficiency programs.   
 
  



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 29 of 32 
 

Appendix A: Description of PCE’s Mid-2017 Resources 
 
The following generation resources are listed in the same order as in Table 5 and Table 6, in 
descending order of contract term length, ranging from 25 years to six months.  Table 14 below 
summarizes how each of these projects contributes towards our aforementioned diversity 
goals.   
 
Table 14: PCE's Executed Contracts and their Diversity Metrics 

Generation 
Resource 

Term 
Length 

Ownership Location Technology Size Additionality 

Wright 
 

         
Mustang              
Direct Energy             
Hatchet Creek             
Buena Vista             
Shiloh             
Karen Avenue             
Roaring Creek             
Bidwell Ditch             
Constellation             
Cuyama             
PG&E             
Powerex             
Morgan 
Stanley 

            

 
 
Wright Solar Park is a new 200 MW solar photovoltaic facility located in Merced County, CA less 
than 100 miles from San Mateo County.  Under this PPA, the project will deliver over 500,000 
MWh annually to PCE for 25 years beginning in 2019.  The energy produced by the facility will 
count towards PCE’s PCC1 targets.  The project is expected to create over 350 regional union 
jobs (about 650 job-years) during the construction period in 2018-2019.   
 
RE Mustang Two is a new 100 MW solar photovoltaic facility located in Kings County, CA.  
Under this PPA, the project will deliver approximately 300,000 MWh annually to PCE for 15 years 
beginning in 2020.  The energy produced by the facility will count towards PCE’s PCC1 targets.   
 
Direct Energy provides load scheduling coordinator services as well as system energy, GHG-free 
energy, renewable energy and capacity through 2020.  Following PCE’s launch in October 2016, 
the Direct Energy agreement provided for all of PCE’s resource requirements.  The proportion of 
energy deliveries from this Direct Energy contract will diminish as PCE incrementally augments 
its resource portfolio with a diverse mix of other power suppliers.   
 
Hatchet Creek is a 7.5 MW small hydro facility located in Shasta County, CA.  The project began 
deliveries to PCE in March 2017, and will continue deliveries through March 2022.  Annual 

Legend 

Meets all 
Guidelines 
Meets 
Some 
Guidelines 
Not 
Applicable 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 30 of 32 
 

deliveries are about 16,500 MWh per year.  The energy produced by the facility counts towards 
PCE’s PCC1 targets.   
 
Buena Vista is a 38 MW wind facility located in Contra Costa County, CA, in the Altamont Pass.  
The project began delivering renewable wind energy to PCE in April 2017, and will continue for 5 
years through April 2022.  Deliveries to PCE are about 90,000 MWh per year.  The energy 
produced by the facility counts towards PCE’s PCC1 targets.  The project was repowered in 
December 2006 by replacing the original turbines with new and bigger turbines.   
 
Shiloh is a 150 MW wind facility located in Solano County, CA.  The project will start delivering 
energy to PCE on January 1, 2019, and will continue for five years through December 2023.  
Peninsula Clean Energy has contracted for an increasing capacity of Shiloh over the term, 
receiving a total of about 400,000 MWh over the five years.  The energy produced by the facility 
will count towards PCE’s PCC1 targets.  The project started operating in 2006.   
 
Karen Avenue is an 11.7 MW wind facility located in Riverside County, CA.  PCE started 
receiving energy from this project on July 1, 2017 and will receive an average of 17,300 MWh in 
annual energy deliveries for three years through June 2020.  The energy produced by the facility 
counts towards PCE’s PCC1 targets.  The project started operating in 1985.   
 
Roaring Creek is a 2 MW small hydro facility located in Shasta County, CA.  The project began 
delivering renewable energy to PCE in March 2017, and will continue for two years through 
March 2019.  Annual deliveries are about 5,600 MWh per year.  The energy produced by the 
facility counts towards PCE’s PCC1 targets.   
 
Bidwell Ditch is a 2 MW small hydro facility located in Shasta County, CA.  The project began 
delivering renewable energy to PCE in March 2017, and will continue for two years through 
March 2019.  Annual deliveries are about 11,000 MWh per year.  The energy produced by the 
facility counts towards PCE’s PCC1 targets.   
 
Constellation has a two-year contract with PCE that delivers both conventional energy and PCC 
2, bundled renewable energy to PCE.  Constellation started delivering energy to PCE in 2017 
during which PCE was transitioning from serving a portion of San Mateo County to all of San 
Mateo County.  Over the course of the contract, Constellation will deliver around 550,000 MWh 
of bundled renewable energy.   
 
Cuyama is a 40 MW solar photovoltaic facility located in Santa Barbara County, CA.  PCE has 
entered into a one-year contract starting on January 1, 2018, during which the Cuyama facility 
will deliver around 115,000 MWh.  The energy produced by the facility will count towards PCE’s 
PCC1 targets.   
 
PG&E has a one-year contract with PCE that started delivery in mid-2017.  This contract counts 
towards PCE’s PCC1 targets. 
 
Powerex has a two-year contract with PCE that delivers both PCC 1 bundled renewable energy 
and GHG-free energy.  Powerex started delivery to PCE in 2017   
 
Morgan Stanley has a one year contract to deliver GHG-free energy in 2017 and 2018.  



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 31 of 32 
 

Appendix B: List of Acronyms 
 
AB  Assembly Bill 
CAISO  California Independent System Operator.  A non-profit organization that operates 

the California electric grid. 
CCA  Community Choice Aggregation or Aggregator 
CCE  Community Choice Energy 
CdTe  Cadmium Telluride.  A specific type of solar panel technology.  
CEC  California Energy Commission.  California’s primary energy policy and planning 

agency. 
CPUC  California Public Utilities Commission. A government agency that regulates 

services and utilities. 
FY  Fiscal Year 
GHG  Greenhouse Gas.  An atmospheric gas produced by combustion of fossil fuels 

that is known driver of climate change. 
GWh  Gigawatt-Hour.  A unit of measurement for energy equal to 1000 Megawatt-hours. 
IOU  Investor Owned Utility. A utility with shareholders such as Pacific Gas and Electric 

Company. 
IRP  Integrated Resource Plan 
kWh  Kilowatt-Hour. A unit of measurement for energy. 
LMP  Locational Marginal Price. A location-specific price for a Megawatt-hour of energy 
LSE  Load Serving Entity. An entity whose responsibility is supplying energy to a group 

of customers. 
MW  Megawatt.  A unit of measurement for power. 
MWh Megawatt-hour.  A unit of measurement for energy equal to 1000 kilowatt-hours. 
NEM  Net Energy Metering.  A program in which self-generators of electricity can sell 

energy back to the grid. 
PCC  Portfolio Content Category.  A classification mechanism used under the 

Renewable Portfolio Standards to distinguish between different types of 
renewable energy.  

PCE  Peninsula Clean Energy.  Community Choice Energy Program for San Mateo 
County and the default electricity provider for San Mateo County. 

PCL  Power Content Label.  A state-mandated customer communication tool that 
informs customers about the energy mix supplied to them by their electricity 
provider. 

PG&E  Pacific Gas and Electric Company.  The investor owned utility that was previously 
San Mateo County’s Official electricity provider. 

PPA  Power Purchase Agreement.  A legally binding agreement between a buyer and a 
seller of electricity for energy. 

RA  Resource Adequacy.  A CPUC mandated program designed to provide sufficient 
resources for the California grid and to provide incentives for the construction of 
new resources. 

REC  Renewable Energy Certificate. A tradable certificate that represents proof that one 
megawatt-hour of electricity was produced by a renewable energy source and fed 
into the electric grid. 

RFP  Request for Proposal 
RPS  Renewable Portfolio Standard.  A state mandated program that sets rules for 

renewable energy targets and goals. 



PCE 2018 Integrated Resource Plan 

December 2017       Page 32 of 32 
 

SB  Senate Bill 
SMC  San Mateo County 
WECC  Western Electricity Coordinating Council. A non-profit organization whose mission 

is to ensure a reliable electric grid in the geographic area known as the Western 
Interconnection. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

26 

Appendix B: Resolution Approving Peninsula Clean Energy’s CPUC IRP 
Filing 



Item No. 11 

1 
 

 

 
 

REGULAR MEETING of the Board of Directors of the 
Peninsula Clean Energy Authority (PCEA) 

Thursday, June 28, 2018 
MINUTES 

 
Peninsula Clean Energy 

2075 Woodside Road, Redwood City, CA 94061 
6:30 p.m. 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Meeting was called to order at 6:34 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Present: Jim Eggemeyer, County of San Mateo 

Carole Groom, County of San Mateo 
Jeff Aalfs, Town of Portola Valley, Chair 

Rick DeGolia, Town of Atherton, Vice Chair 

Julia Mates, City of Belmont 
Donna Colson, City of Burlingame 
Catherine Mahanpour, City of Foster City 
Laurence May, Town of Hillsborough 
Wayne Lee, City of Millbrae 
John Keener, City of Pacifica 
Marty Medina, City of San Bruno 
Cameron Johnson, City of San Carlos 
Joe Goethals, City of San Mateo 
Pradeep Gupta, City of South San Francisco 
Daniel Yost, Town of Woodside 
 

Absent:  City of Brisbane 
Town of Colma 
City of Daly City 
City of East Palo Alto 
City of Half Moon Bay 
City of Menlo Park 
City of Redwood City 
 



Item No. 11 

2 
 

 
Staff:  Jan Pepper, Chief Executive Officer 

Jay Modi, Director of Finance and Administration 
Leslie Brown, Director of Customer Care 
Joseph Wiedman, Director of Legislative and Regulatory Affairs 
Siobhan Doherty, Director of Power Resources 
Kirsten Andews-Schwind, Communications and Outreach Manager 
TJ Carter, Marketing Associate 
David Silberman, General Counsel 
Tina Caratan, Interim CFO 
Anne Bartoletti, Board Clerk/Executive Assistant to the CEO 

 
 
A quorum was established. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 
John Walti and Tom May, RTRO Energy 
 
 
ACTION TO SET THE AGENDA AND APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Motion Made / Seconded:  May / Yost 
 
Motion passed 14-0 (Absent: Brisbane, Colma, Daly City, East Palo Alto, Half Moon Bay, Menlo Park, 
Millbrae, Redwood City) 
 
 
REGULAR AGENDA 
 
Jeff Aalfs–Chair–announced that Action items were being moved up on the agenda.   
 

11. APPROVE DATA MANAGEMENT CONTRACT 

Leslie Brown–Director of Customer Care–reported that PCE received five responses to its RFP 
(Request for Proposals).  She reported that GridX, SMUD (Sacramento Municipal Utility District), 
and Calpine were invited to present their proposals to PCE staff.   She reported that upon 
completion of staff reviews of the proposals and presentations, staff recommend approving a 
new 2-year contract with Calpine.  

Motion Made / Seconded:  Gupta / DeGolia 
 
Motion passed 13-0 (Abstained:  Woodside.  Absent: Brisbane, Colma, Daly City, East Palo Alto, Half 
Moon Bay, Menlo Park, Millbrae, Redwood City) 
 
 
 

12. APPROVE FISCAL YEAR 2018-2019 BUDGET AND 5-YEAR PROJECTIONS 



Item No. 11 

3 
 

Jay Modi–Director of Finance and Administration—reported that the updated Fiscal Year forecast 
includes July 2017 through April 2018 data.  Jay handed out and reviewed copies of the Fiscal 
Year 2018-2019 Budget and 5-Year Projections.   Board members discussed budget projections 
for investments in local programs, and the pros and cons of maintaining a line of credit. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 
Mark Roest, San Mateo 
 
Motion Made / Seconded:  Lee / May 
 
Motion passed 15-0 (Absent: Brisbane, Colma, Daly City, East Palo Alto, Half Moon Bay, Menlo Park, 
Redwood City) 
 

13. APPROVE FINANCIAL RESERVES POLICY 

Jay Modi handed out copies of the draft Reserves Policy, a Reserve Policy Comparison between 
CCAs (Community Choice Aggregator), and Moody’s Requirement Agencies Factor Grid.  Board 
members discussed various revenue scenarios, potential industry and rate changes, and the 
Working Capital Reserves of other CCAs. 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 
None 
 
Motion Made / Seconded:  Lee / Yost 
 
Motion passed 15-0 (Absent: Brisbane, Colma, Daly City, East Palo Alto, Half Moon Bay, Menlo Park, 
Redwood City) 
 

10. APPROVE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY EV INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT MATCH AND/OR FUNDING 
FOR INNOVATIVE ELECTRIC VEHICLE INFRASTRUCTURE PILOTS 

Rafael Reyes—Director of Energy Programs—reported that PCE is developing a proposal to the 
Department of Energy (DOE) for $1 million matching funds grant for strategies and measures that 
address Electric Vehicle infrastructure gaps for multi-unit dwellings and curbside charging.  He 
reported that the action being requested of the Board will approve a $1 million allocation over 3 
years for this project, whether or not PCE wins the grant from the DOE.  The Board members 
raised having the proposal brought back to the Board if PCE is not granted the matching funds 
from the DOE. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 
Walter Melville, San Bruno 
 
 
Motion Made / Seconded:  DeGolia / Lee 
 



Item No. 11 

4 
 

Motion passed 15-0 (Absent: Brisbane, Colma, Daly City, East Palo Alto, Half Moon Bay, Menlo Park, 
Redwood City) 
 
Jeff Aalfs announced that the Board of Directors will move into Closed Session. 
 
 
CLOSED SESSION 
 

1. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 
Title:  Chief Executive Officer 
 
 

2. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 
Agency Designated Representatives:  Jeff Aalfs and David Silberman 
Unrepresented Employee:  Chief Executive Officer  
 
 

3. RECONVENE OPEN SESSION AND REPORT OUT OF CLOSED SESSION 
 
David Silberman—General Counsel—reported that the Board members provided direction to 
negotiators to bring back an amendment to the CEO agreement.   

 
REGULAR AGENDA 
 
Jeff Aalfs announced that agenda item 4. Approval of Employment Contract Amendment and 
Compensation Adjustment for Chief Executive Officer (Action), and agenda item 5. Chair Report 
(Discussion), will be skipped.   
 

6. CEO REPORT 
 
Jan Pepper—CEO—reported that Alejandra Posada was promoted to the position of Energy 
Programs Associate, and Charlsie Chang was promoted to Public Affairs Associate.  Jan reported 
that PCE’s current recruitments include a Clean Energy Programs Manager, a Regulatory Analyst 
and a permanent CFO to be recruited through a search firm.  The next positions to be posted will 
be for a Distributed Energy Procurement Manager and a Community Outreach Associate.   

Jan reported on recent events that PCE staff and Board members attended, including the 
Business of Local Energy Symposium in Sacramento, the Silicon Valley Energy Summit at Stanford 
(where she presented on a panel and conducted a discussion on CCAs), and an En Banc hearing 
on the California Customer Choice Project at the CPUC (California Public Utilities Commission).  
Jan announced upcoming events including the CalCCA (California Community Choice Association) 
annual summit September 5-6 at Asilomar in Monterey, and the CAISO (California Independent 
System Operator) Stakeholder Conference October 17-18 in Sacramento. 

 



Item No. 11 

5 
 

7. CITIZENS ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
Michael Closson—Chair of the Citizens Advisor Commttee (CAC)—reported on activities and 
discussion that took place at the last meeting, including the swearing-in of new CAC members, 
and a presentation on the Brown Act.    
 
 

8. AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
Nothing to report.    
 
 

9. REGULATORY AND LEGISLATIVE REPORT 
 
Joe Wiedman—Director of Legislative and Regulatory Affairs—reported on May and June 
regulatory filings and outreach, and several bills in the California legislature.    
 

14. CPUC IRP PREVIEW 
 
Siobhan Doherty—Director of Power Resources—reported that the CPUC (California Public 
Utilities Commission) has created IRP (Integrated Resource Plan) requirements that differ from 
the strategic IRP that PCE produced in December 2017.  She reported that the main purpose of 
the CPUC IRP is to provide CPUC staff with inputs from each LSE (Load Serving Entity) to forecast 
industry-wide procurement and determine whether LSEs in California are meeting the state’s 
GHG (greenhouse gas) and reliability needs for 2030.   

Siobhan reported on the submission requirements and modeling requirements for the CPUC IRP, 
and PCE’s internal Portfolio Modeling objectives.  She reported that IRPs are due to be submitted 
to the CPUC on August 1, 2018, and that the Board will be asked to approve the IRP submission at 
the July 26, 2018 Board meeting.  

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 
Mark Roest, San Mateo 
 

15. BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORTS 

Pradeep Gupta reported that the California Two-Thirds Vote for State and Local Revenue 
Increases Initiative has been withdrawn from the ballot. 

 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Meeting was adjourned at 9:37 p.m. 


	00 PCE Board Agenda 07-26-18 (2)
	02 PCE BOD CEO Report 7-26-2018 (2)
	02.1 Draft Retreat Agenda for 072618 CEO report (2)
	04 BOD Memo Marketing July 2018_JP (2)
	There are now over 5,000 accounts in ECO100.  In addition to the County, there are a total of 15 ECO100 cities.  The ECO100 towns and cities as of July 18, 2018, include Atherton, Belmont, Brisbane, Burlingame, Colma, Foster City, Half Moon Bay, Hills...

	05 PCE BOD Memo Reg-Leg 7-26-2018_JP (2)
	06.0 2018.07 BOD Local Programs - General Update_JP jsk rr (2)
	DETAIL

	07.0 2018.07 BOD Local Programs - RWC Resilience Memo_JP (2)
	BACKGROUND

	07.1 2018.07 BOD Local Programs RWC Resilience Reso_JP, JS, RR (2)
	08.0 BOD Memo IRP_07262018_JP (1)
	08.1 BOD Reso IRP_07262018_JP (2)
	08.2 PCE Standard LSE Plan_Draft_v2
	1. Executive Summary
	1.1 About Peninsula Clean Energy (PCE)
	1.1.1 Enrolled Customers
	1.1.2 Retail Products
	1.1.2.1 ECOplus
	1.1.2.2 ECO100

	1.1.3 Strategic IRP


	2. Study Design
	2.1 Objectives
	2.1.1 GHG-Free by 2021
	2.1.2 100% Renewable by 2025
	2.1.3 Designing a Diverse and Balanced Portfolio

	2.2 Methodology
	2.2.1 Modeling Tool(s)
	2.2.2 Modeling Approach
	2.2.3 Assumptions


	3. Study Results
	3.1 Portfolio Results
	3.2 Preferred and Conforming Portfolios
	3.2.1 Local Air Pollutant Minimization
	3.2.1.1 Introduction
	3.2.1.2 Disadvantaged Communities (DACs)
	3.2.1.3 Customers Served in DACs
	3.2.1.4 Power Procurement in DACs
	3.2.1.5 LSE Activities & Programs Impacting DACs
	3.1.2.6 Estimates of Annual Emissions of Nitrogen and Particulate Matter

	3.2.2 Cost and Rate Analysis

	3.3 Deviations from Current Resource Plans
	3.4 Local Needs Analysis

	4. Action Plan
	4.1 Proposed Activities
	4.2 Barrier Analysis
	4.3 Proposed Commission Direction

	5. Data
	5.1 Baseline Resource Data Template
	5.2 New Resource Data Template
	5.3 Other Data Reporting Guidelines

	6. Lessons Learned
	Appendix A: Peninsula Clean Energy’s Strategic IRP
	Appendix B: Resolution Approving Peninsula Clean Energy’s CPUC IRP Filing
	PCE FINAL 2017 IRP_12.22.17_Updated.pdf
	I. Executive Summary
	II. Introduction
	III. Regulatory Mandates
	Renewable Portfolio Standard
	SB 350
	Resource Adequacy (RA)
	Power Source Disclosure Program
	AB 1110
	AB 2514

	IV. PCE Procurement Goals and Policies
	GHG-Free by 2021
	100% Renewable by 2025
	No Use of Unbundled Renewable Energy Certificates

	V. Customers and Consumption Forecast
	Enrolled Customers
	PCE Rollout – Phases 1 and 2
	Load Forecast
	Retail Products
	ECOplus
	ECO100

	Power Content Label

	VI. Current Procurement Status
	Project-Specific Power Purchase Agreements
	Renewable Energy and GHG-Free Contracts
	System Energy

	VII. Resource Needs
	Open Position
	Meeting and Exceeding California’s Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS)

	VIII. Designing a Diverse and Balanced Portfolio
	Additionality
	Term Length
	Project Size
	Ownership
	Resource and Technology Mix
	Location
	Procurement Methods
	RA Purchases


	IX. Developing Local Resources
	Net Energy Metering (“NEM”)
	New Program Development

	Appendix A: Description of PCE’s Mid-2017 Resources
	Appendix B: List of Acronyms


	11 PCE Board 06-28-18 minutes (1)
	REGULAR MEETING of the Board of Directors of the
	Peninsula Clean Energy Authority (PCEA)
	Thursday, June 28, 2018
	MINUTES
	Peninsula Clean Energy
	2075 Woodside Road, Redwood City, CA 94061
	6:30 p.m.
	CALL TO ORDER
	Meeting was called to order at 6:34 p.m.
	ROLL CALL
	Carole Groom, County of San Mateo
	A quorum was established.
	PUBLIC COMMENT:
	John Walti and Tom May, RTRO Energy
	Motion Made / Seconded:  May / Yost
	REGULAR AGENDA
	Motion Made / Seconded:  Gupta / DeGolia
	PUBLIC COMMENT:
	Mark Roest, San Mateo
	Motion Made / Seconded:  Lee / May
	PUBLIC COMMENT:
	None
	Motion Made / Seconded:  Lee / Yost
	PUBLIC COMMENT:
	Walter Melville, San Bruno
	Motion Made / Seconded:  DeGolia / Lee
	CLOSED SESSION
	REGULAR AGENDA
	PUBLIC COMMENT:




